CONDUCTANCES OF HYDROGEN HALIDES IN ANHYDROUS POLAR ORGANIC SOLVENTS

GEORGE J. JANZ AND STEVEN S. DANYLUK¹

Department of Chemistry, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, Troy, New York

Received December 3, 1959

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	209									
II.	Physical properties of organic solvents										
III.	Classification of nonaqueous solvents	210									
IV.	Solubilities in organic media	210									
v.	Compound formation with hydrogen halides	211									
VI.	Conductance data for hydrogen halides	213									
	A. Basic solvents	213									
	1. Alcohols	213									
	2. Aldehydes and ketones	216									
	3. Ethers	217									
	4. Pyridinic compounds	218									
	5. Amines	219									
	6. Nitriles	221									
	7. Amides	223									
	B. Acidic solvents	224									
	1. Carboxylic acids	224									
	2. Nitro compounds	224									
	C. Aprotic solvents	225									
	D. Miscellaneous measurements	225									
VII.	Limiting conductances and ionization constants	225									
VIII.	Equivalent conductance-concentration variation	228									
IX.	Empirical conductance equations	230									
Χ.	Charge-transfer concepts	230									
XI.	References	232									

I. INTRODUCTION

The electrochemical properties of ionophores (61) (ionic compounds) have been and are a continued area of interest and study. This subject has received increasing attention in recent times in view of the current interest in concepts of solvent-solute and solvent-ion interaction in these systems. Conductance equations for ionophores have been reinvestigated theoretically recently (62, 63a, 63b, 68) and their concentration range extended considerably. By contrast ionogens, particularly the hydrogen halides in organic solvents, have received rather little attention. In addition to solvention interactions, there may occur solvent-solute interactions in these acidic systems (not generally so in salt-organic systems) provided the solvent has appreciable basic and/or acidic properties. As such they afford an opportunity for the advancement of knowledge in this little understood area.

The first systematic study of the electrical conduc-

tivity of hydrogen halides in nonaqueous solvents was started in the latter part of the nineteenth century (105). Considerable uncertainty was associated with this early work, however, and it was not until the measurements in aliphatic alcohols that accurate data became available. Of the hydrohalide acids, hydrogen chloride has been the most extensively investigated, particularly in hydroxylic solvents.

In the majority of organic solvents (lower aliphatic alcohols excepted) the hydrogen halides are relatively poor electrolytes; the equivalent conductances are frequently lower than 1 ohm⁻¹cm.² at concentrations less than 10^{-2} N. Perhaps the most outstanding aspect of these systems is the nature of the conductance–concentration curves. The latter are often quite complex, exhibiting maxima and/or minima that are not readily explained.

II. PHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF ORGANIC SOLVENTS

Organic solvents for which hydrogen halide conductance data are available encompass a variety of polar groups, e.g., keto, nitro, amino, and the physical

¹ Present address: Division of Pure Chemistry, National Research Council, Ottawa, Canada.

210

Solvent	Dielectric Constant	Viscosity	Ionization Potential	Solvent	Dielectric Constant	Viscosity	Ionization Potential
		centipoises	e. v.			centipoises	e. v.
Methanol	32.63	0.5445	10.8-10.9	Quinoline	9.0	2.9430	
Ethanol.	24.30	1.078	9.8-10.5	Dimethylamine	3.3100° (gas)		9.5-9.6
1-Propanol	20.1	2.004		Ethylamine	4.3100' (gas)	0.34625 .: 0.824-33.5	9.3-9.7
1-Butanol.	17.1	2.27130		Aniline	6.8920	3.770	
Isobutyl alcohol	17.7	3.91		o-Toluidine	5.9518	4.41815	
Isoamyl alcohol.	14.7	2.9630		Acetonitrile	37.5	0.345	11.96
Acetaldehyde	21.1		10.18	Formamide	111.520.	3,302	
Benzaldehyde‡	17.820.	1.40	9.82	Acetamide	60.694.	1.6394.	
Acetone	20.70	0.2954	9.69	N.N-Dimethylformamide	38.320*	0,8820.	
Diethyl ether	4.33520.	0.24220.	9.7-10.2	Formic acid	58.515	1,966	11.33
Pyridine	12.01	0.82930.	9.7-9.9	Nitrobenzene	34.82	2.165	11.34-12.0

TABLE 1*

Physical properties of organic solvents[†]

* The data in this table are in large part from Weissberger (204) and Conway (27).

† All values listed at 25°C, unless noted otherwise.

‡ No data available for cinnamaldehyde.

properties summarized in table 1 cover a wide range of values. More extensive tables of properties are given in several recent reference books (27, 204).

The dielectric constants of organic solvents are generally much lower than that of water (D.C._{25°} = 82.35), though there are several solvents which do not follow this trend (e.g., formamide, D.C._{20°} = 111.5). Considerable association into ionic aggregates would therefore be expected, increasing in magnitude with decreasing dielectric constant. However, empirical correlations between the dielectric constant and the strength of an electrolyte [Nernst-Thomson Rule (49)] are uniformly unsuccessful in hydrogen halide-organic solvent systems. This is well illustrated by hydrogen chloride, which is a relatively strong electrolyte in methanol (D.C._{25°} = 32.63) and an extremely poor conductor in nitromethane (D.C._{25°} = 35.87).

The viscosity of the solvent is of considerable importance in electrolyte solutions, for the ionic mobilities of ionophores are dependent to a large extent upon the magnitude of this property. Thus the mobilities vary inversely with the viscosity according to Stokes' law and Walden's rule (84). The dependence of the Walden product on dielectric constant has been recently discussed by Fuoss (63a). It is shown that the inconstancy of the Walden product may be attributed to interactions of the fields of the moving ions and those of the solvent dipoles in surrounding solvent.

Ionization potentials have been included in table 1, since they provide an insight into the electron-donor properties of the solvent molecules. This physical property is of considerable importance in determining the extent and nature of electron donor-acceptor interaction, i.e., Lewis acid-base interaction, between two unlike molecules (151, 152). Both the basicities of electron donors and the relative binding energies of addition compounds formed with electron acceptors decrease with increasing ionization potentials of the donor. For example, the base strengths of amines increase in the order $NH_3 < (CH_3)_2NH < (CH_3)_3N$, while the ionization potentials are 10.52, 9.5, and 9.2 (51), respectively. The extent of acid-base interaction is also dependent upon the electron affinity of the acceptor and the molecular configuration of both donor and acceptor.

III. CLASSIFICATION OF NONAQUEOUS SOLVENTS

For the purposes of this review nonaqueous solvents have been classified into two broad groups, acidic and basic. Following the definitions proposed by Mulliken (151, 152) acidic solvents are distinguished by their ability to accept a negative charge (electron acceptors) donated by a foreign species, while basic solvents are those which can donate a negative charge, e.g., an electron pair. Included in the acidic category are compounds such as acetic and formic acids; examples of bases are amines, pyridine, etc. Further subdivision into amphiprotic and aprotic groups is also possible but is of minor significance for organic solvent-hydrogen halide systems.

In addition to the above classification, solvents are also frequently compared on the basis of properties exhibited by electrolytes dissolved in them. Two groups of solvents may be distinguished: (1) levelling solvents in which members of a series of electrolytes are of approximately the same strength, e.g., hydrogen halides in methanol; and (2) differentiating solvents in which the members possess markedly different strengths, e.g., hydrogen chloride, hydrogen bromide, and hydrogen i odide in acetonitrile.

IV. SOLUBILITIES IN ORGANIC MEDIA

In general the hydrogen halides are moderately soluble in most polar organic solvents; solubilities in both polar and nonpolar solvents are summarized in several reference books (126, 180). Among some of the more recent measurements are those of Gerrard and coworkers for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide (72, 73), those of Strohmeier and Echte (189) and of Kohn (121) for hydrogen chloride in alcohols, and those of Brown and Brady (16) and of O'Brien and coworkers for hydrogen chloride (158, 160). Karvé (111) has reported heats of solution for hydrogen chloride, hydrogen bromide, and hydrogen iodide in various organic solvents in connection with a thermochemical investigation of the constitution of these acids in solution.

Gerrard and coworkers (72, 73) have measured the solubility of hydrogen chloride in a wide variety of alcohols, carboxylic acids, and esters over a range of temperatures. The solubility was highest in alcohols and somewhat less in esters; acids were relatively poor solvents. These authors concluded that oxonium salts of the types $\text{ROH}_2^+X^-$, $\text{RCOOH}_2^+X^-$, and $\text{RCOORH}_X^+X^-$ were formed in the latter systems and, in the case of $\text{ROH}_2^+X^-$, served as intermediates in alkyl halide formation. The solubilities are dependent on the temperature and nature of the solvent, increasing markedly with decreasing temperature and increasing basicities (72).

For alcohols the solubility of hydrogen chloride can be correlated with the electron density on the oxygen. For example, the latter increases as follows: $CH_3 < CH_3CH_2 < CH(CH_3)_2 < C(CH_3)_3$, and the solubilities at 10°C., expressed as moles of hydrogen chloride per mole of alcohol are: methanol (0.857), ethanol (0.950), 2-propanol (1.030). The presence of electron-withdrawing substituents (such as halides) in the alkyl group of the alcohols decreases the solubility of the hydrogen halides; e.g., at 11°C. the solubility of hydrogen chloride decreases as follows in chlorinated ethanols: $ClCH_2CH_2OH > Cl_2CHCH_2OH > Cl_3CH_2OH$. Effects similar to the above were also observed in the acids and esters.

V. COMPOUND FORMATION WITH HYDROGEN HALIDES

Consideration of possible chemical interactions between the hydrogen halides and the organic solvents is important relative to the electrochemical properties of the solutions. A discussion of compound and salt formation, hydrogen bonding, and related effects in these systems follows. The reviews by Andrews (1) and Mc-Glynn (139) and the classic work of Pfeiffer (164) are of interest in supplementing the present discussion.

Molecular interactions between hydrohalide acids and organic compounds cover a wide latitude ranging from the weak π complexes formed with aromatic hydrocarbons (15), e.g., hydrogen chloride in benzene, to salt formation characterized by the amines, e.g., CH₃NH₃⁺Cl⁻. In the majority of cases the molecular complexes formed are relatively unstable under normal conditions and dissociate readily into their components.

A compilation of the acid complexes formed with a number of organic solvents is given in table 2. On the basis of melting points only the amine, pyridine, and amide hydrohalides can be considered as salts. By comparison, compounds with the oxy solvents possess low melting points and in most cases dissociate on fusion into the free acid and base, suggesting that the bonding is predominantly associative; i.e., via hydrogen bonding. Some support for the latter is seen in the values of the enthalpy change for reaction between acids and ethers (74, 133, 134, 202). Thus the ΔH for the association of methyl ether with hydrogen chloride is -7 kcal. (74) and similarly with hydrogen bromide, -5 kcal. (134); i.e., the values are within the enthalpy range (3-10 kcal.) for hydrogen-bonding reactions.

The existence of molecular complexes in acid solutions has been confirmed by a wide variety of physical methods, apart from electrical conductivity. One of the most useful techniques has been the investigation of freezing point-composition diagrams for binary systems of acids and organic compounds. This method is particularly suited for the detection of compounds only isolable at low temperatures, e.g., CH₃OH·HCl, m.p. -62° C. (131), and for systems in which complexes of various stoichiometric ratios occur, e.g., acetonitrilehydrogen chloride (154) and ethyl ether-hydrogen chloride (131). Supercooling, as in oxy solvents (128), and possible secondary reactions limit the applicability of this approach in some systems.

Complex formation in solutions has also been detected by changes in the dipole moment of the acid molecule (46, 47, 48, 119, 120, 148). For example, Mizushima, Suenaga, and Kozima (148) reported that hydrogen chloride has a dipole moment of 2.22 Debyes in ethyl ether, 1.24 Debyes in toluene, and 1.20 Debyes in benzene at 20°C. as compared with 1.03 Debyes in air.

Vapor pressure (157, 158, 159, 160, 201) and viscosity measurements (38, 119, 120) have been used to show acid-base interaction in a number of systems. Deviations of vapor pressures from the values predicted by Henry's law were attributed by O'Brien and coworkers (157, 158, 159, 160) to interactions of the type HX + $S \rightleftharpoons S \rightarrow HX$. On this basis equilibrium constants were estimated for both hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide in several organic solvents. Viscosity measurements have been reported for binary systems of hydrogen chloride-alcohols (119, 120) and hydrogen chlorideethers (38). In all cases the η -composition isotherms show marked deviations from ideality, passing through maxima in the concentration range corresponding to a 1:1 mole ratio of the components.

Evidence of solute-solvent interaction between acids and organic solvents may be gained from infrared (5, 19, 58, 80, 190, 205) and Raman spectral studies of the solutions (11, 12, 70, 71, 197). Shifts of the fundamental absorption bands, $\nu_{\rm HX}$, of hydrogen halides to longer wavelengths, accompanied by broadening of the bands, have been observed in a wide variety of organic solvents

System	Mole Ratio of Components	Melting Point	References	System	Mole Ratio of Components	Melting Point	References
	Alcohol	8			Ethers-Con	tinued	
		°C.				°C.	
Methyl alcohol-HCl	1:1 3:2	$-62 \\ -64$	(131) (141)	Ethyl ether-HI	2:1 1:1	-18	(3, 145) (3)
Methyl alcohol-HBr	4:1	-61 (incongruent) -14 -12	(128)				
	1:4	-14, -12 -94	(128, 125, 146)		Pyridine	8	
Methyl alcohol-HI	1:1	-48	(140)				
Ethyl alcohol-HCl	1:1	-65	(131)	Pyridine-HCl	1:1	-	(146)
Ethyl alcohol-HBr	1:1	-30	(129)	Puridine-HBr	1:2	47-51 206 (225 decompose)	(43, 44) (173)
					1:2	Melting starts at 36°:	(112)
n-Propyl alcohol-HCl	1:5	-120	(3)			complete at 54°	()
n-Propyl alcohol-HBr	1:2	-85	(3)	Pyridine-HI	1:1	190-195	(31)
n-Propyl alconol-H1	1:2	-00(:)	(3)	_			
				Quinoline-HCl	1:1	133, 134.5	(39, 163)
	Aldehydes and	Ketones			1:2	46.7	(112)
					2:3	82	(39)
Acetaldebyde-HCl	2.3		(141)	Quinoline-HI	1:2	41	(113)
Acetaldehyde-HBr	2:3	-15	(141)		<u> </u>	!	,
Acetaldehyde-HI	2:3	-34	(141)		Animes		
					1		
Acetone-HF	1:1	55	(127)	Nethelessine HCl	1.1	000	(83)
	1:2	12-15	(127)	Methylamine-HCI	1:1	220	(83)
Acetone-HUI	1:1	-77	(143)	Ethylamine-HCl	1.1	107 5 109	(137, 199)
	2:0		(143)	Ethylamine-HBr	1:1	159	(199)
Anotone-HBr	4.1	-35 (incongruent)	(143)	Ethylamine-HI	1:1	167. 189	(34, 199)
ACCOLC-INDI	1:1	-4, -23	(128, 129)		1		(* ·•/
	1:4	-35	(128)	Dimethylamine-HCl	1:1	171	(199)
Acetone-HI	2:1		(3)	Dimethylamine-HBr	1:1	133	(170, 199)
				Dimethylamine-HI	1:1	-	(199)
	Esters			Dimethylamine-HF	1:2	-	(203)
				Aniline-HCl	1:1	198	(136)
			(4.44)	Aniline-HBr.	1:1	280	(95)
Ethyl acetate-HCI	1:2	-75	(141)	Aniline-HI	1:1	_	(59)
Ethyl acetate-HDr	2:0	-40	(141)		1		
E. III YI & COURTO-111,	1.1	-25	(141)		Anides		
	Acids				1	1 1	
				Formamide-HCl	1:3		(171)
Acetia acid-HCl	2:3	-53	(141)	Formamide-HBr	2:3		(171)
	2.0		(111)				
				Acetamide-HCl	1:1	135	(108)
	Ethers				2:1	130-132	(97)
				Acetamide-HBr	2:1	140-142	(97)
Methyl ether-HCl	1:1	-96	(129)			<u> </u>	
-	1:3, 1:4 (?)	-102	(129)		Nitrile	8	
Methyl ether-HBr	1:1	-13	(129)				
Methyl ether-HI	1:1	-22	(129)				
				Acetonitrile-HCl	1:1	-63.2	(154)
Ethyl ether-HCl	1:1	-92	(3, 131)		2:3	-88 (incongruent)	(154)
	1:2	-88	(131)		1:5	-123.6	(154)
	1:5	-92, -89	(3, 131)		1:7	-125	(104)
Ethyl ether-nBr	5:1 1.1	-55 (7)	(128)	A antonitrilo_HP-	1:2	75-90	(100)
	1.1	-40 -46	(120, 142)	Acetonitrile-HI	1:2 (?)	>100	(100)
	1.2		(140)				(200)

TABLE 2

Molecular complexes of hydrogen halides and organic compounds

(103, 104) and cannot be accounted for in terms of solvent effects alone, i.e., the dielectric constant. For example, in methanol solutions $\nu_{\rm HCl}$ is shifted from 3.46 μ to a broad band at 4.0 μ . The data are not suitable for determining equilibrium constants or the stoichiometry of the complex, although they can give a

qualitative indication of the basicities of solvents (5, 104).

Infrared spectra of solid complexes have been reported recently for a number of amine hydrohalides (23) and $CH_3CN \cdot 2HBr$ (100). The spectrum of the latter compound was markedly different from that of

the pure components and was attributed to an imino hydrobromide structure, $CH_3C(Br)=NH_2^+Br^-$. Briegleb and Lauppe (11, 12) have reported low-temperature Raman spectra for the compounds formed between alcohols, ethers, and hydrogen halides. The frequency assignments by the latter have been questioned by Gantmacher and coworkers (70, 71), and a need for further work is apparent.

VI. CONDUCTANCE DATA FOR HYDROGEN HALIDES

Of the conductance measurements reported for hydrogen halides in nonaqueous solvents, most are of limited accuracy (often 5 per cent). Discrepancies are most evident in dilute solutions and undoubtedly arise because of the presence of impurities in the solvent or because of chemical reactions. Limitations imposed by the hygroscopic nature and the high resistances of many nonaqueous solutions are further complicating factors.

A considerable amount of information regarding purification procedures and experimental techniques can be found in the experimental portions of papers discussed in this section. Information relative to the design and construction of conductance cells suitable for nonaqueous work can be found in several recent papers (7, 13, 50, 156).

For uniformity and comparison, phoreograms, i.e., graphical plots of the equivalent conductances (Λ) versus the square root of the concentration (\sqrt{c}) , have been used to illustrate the conductance data. Where a number of separate investigations have been reported, the measurements judged most accurate have been used in constructing the graphs.

A. BASIC SOLVENTS

1. Alcohols

Conductances of hydrogen halides have been investigated most extensively in alcohols, the interest here lying in the catalytic properties of the acids in these solvents. Because of their inherent similarity to water, methyl and ethyl alcohol have been of particular interest.

The equivalent conductances of hydrogen chloride in methanol (D.C._{25°} = 32.6) have been reported at 25°C. by a number of authors (22, 76, 85, 90, 161, 172, 192), the most recent being Shedlovsky and Kay (183).

In figure 1 are illustrated the more extensive, although less accurate, measurements of Goldschmidt and Dahll (76). Analysis of the results indicates that this acid behaves as a strong electrolyte in methanol with only a small amount of association. Hartley and Rust (85) noted that the observed Onsager slope (84) was greater than the calculated value but did not determine the value of the thermodynamic dissociation constant, K_i . Shedlovsky and Kay (183) computed a dissociation constant of 0.059 and $\Lambda_0 = 198.5$ from a plot of the Shedlovsky conductance equation (182) for weak electrolytes:

$$\frac{1}{\Lambda S} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_0} + \frac{c\Lambda S f_{\pm}^2}{K_i \Lambda_0^2}$$

The explanation of the notation is given in Section VII.

Although limiting equivalent conductances (Λ_0) have been reported by a number of authors, agreement between independent values is not satisfactory (*cf.* table 4). The discrepancies may be attributed in part to different methods of estimating Λ_0 ; e.g., Λ_0 values of 193.2 (Hartley and Rust (85)), 196.7 (Thomas and Marum (192)), and 192.3 (Rosenberg (172)) were estimated graphically from $\Lambda - \sqrt{c}$ curves; Λ_0 values of



FIG. 1. Hydrogen halides in methyl and ethyl alcohols. A: Methanol, Goldschmidt (76). B: Ethanol, Goldschmidt (76). Insert: Bezman and Verhoek (8).

202.5 (Hlasko and Kamienski (90)) and 204.3 (Goldschmidt and Dahll (76)) were estimated from $\Lambda - \sqrt[3]{c}$ plots; the value $\Lambda_0 = 193.2$ (Ogston (161)) was estimated by the Fuoss-Kraus method (65) and $\Lambda_0 = 198.5$ (Shedlovsky and Kay) was determined by the Shedlovsky method for weak electrolytes. The presence of trace impurities (water and esters) and the occurrence of chemical reactions (*cf.* below) would also account for some of the differences.

It is of interest to note that the addition of small amounts of water, less than 2 per cent, to alcohol-acid mixtures decreases the conductivity (76, 183). It appears that the proton-transfer mechanism in alcohols is disrupted by the presence of more strongly bonded H_3O^+ ions, i.e., the equilibrium

$$ROH_2^+ + H_2O \rightleftharpoons ROH + H_3O^+$$

lies far to the right.

The Λ_0 and K_i values of Shedlovsky and Kay (183) are recommended as the best values. Further work over an extended temperature range and subsequent analysis of experimental results in terms of the recent Fuoss (62) or Ramsey and Denison (35) concepts would provide additional needed data. Ogston (161) has reported the equivalent conductances and ionization constants for hydrogen chloride at 4° and 15°C. in methanol. The values $\Lambda_0 = 150.4$ (4°C.) and 173.0 (15°C.) and $K_i = 0.102$ (4°C.) and 0.112 (15°C.) were estimated by the method of Fuoss and Kraus (65).

Goldschmidt and Dahll (76) measured the conductivities of hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide and estimated (graphically) Λ_0 values of 206.6 and 212.2, respectively. The results differ considerably from the only other available values reported by Hlasko and Kamienski (90), i.e., $\Lambda_0 = 212.3$ (HBr) and $\Lambda_0 = 221.8$ (HI). As in the case of hydrogen chloride, both hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide show a small degree of ionic association. Recalculation of the Goldschmidt and Dahll data using the Fuoss-Shedlovsky methods does not yield meaningful results. Further experimental work to resolve the above discrepancies is necessary.

Strauss (188) recently measured the conductivity of hydrogen bromide in methanol solutions to 3000 atm. at 25°C. and found that the molal conductance decreased with increasing pressure, as shown in table 3.

TABLE 3

Variation of the molal conductance of hydrogen bromide in methanol with pressure

			1	·····
Pressure (atm.)	1 127.7	1000	2000	3000
Δ* (molal)		116.1	107.8	101.1

* Concentration of HBr, 0.028 molal.

The decrease was not as large as for comparable solutions of ionophores. Strauss estimated that the excess proton conductance, i.e., the conductivity contribution from proton-transfer mechanisms, accounted for approximately 66 per cent of the total hydrogen-ion conductance at atmospheric pressure, the remainder resulting from $CH_3OH_2^+$ ions. The decrease in excess proton conductance with increasing pressure was attributed to hindrance of rotation of the methanol at higher pressures.

The equivalent conductance data in ethanol (D.C._{25°} = 24.30), illustrated in figure 1B, confirm that hydrogen chloride is a moderately weak electrolyte in this solvent. The observed $\Lambda - \sqrt{c}$ slope, 360, is considerably greater than the calculated Onsager slope, 199_{25°}. The agreement among the Λ_0 and K_i values at 25°C., reported independently in the literature, leaves something to be desired. For example, values for Λ_0 of 82.46 (El-Aggan, Bradley, and Wardlaw (41)), 83.8 (Hartley and Rust (85)), 84.25 (Bezman and Verhoek (8)), 84.7 (Thomas and Marum (192)), 89.1 (Goldschmidt and Dahll (76)),

and 81.7 (Ogston (161)), and values for K_i of 8.23 imes 10^{-3} (El-Aggan, Bradley, and Wardlaw (41)), 0.0112 (Ogston (161)), and 0.0113 (Bezman and Verhoek (8)) have been reported. The most recent Λ_0 values, 82.46 and 84.35, and values of the ionization constants, 8.23×10^{-3} and 11.3×10^{-3} , respectively, were determined by the method of Fuoss and Kraus and are recommended as best values. It should be noted that a somewhat better extrapolation of the conductance data for weak electrolytes, i.e., $10^{-3} \leq K_i \leq 1$, is possible if the Shedlovsky (182) treatment is used. Trace amounts of water in the ethanol decrease the conductivity (76), and the lower values of Λ_0 may be attributed in part to this effect. Chemical reactions, e.g., alkyl halide formation and esterification, would also contribute.

The limiting equivalent conductance and K_i of hydrogen chloride have also been determined at 4°C. and 15°C. (161). The Fuoss-Kraus extrapolation procedure yielded the following values: $\Lambda_0 = 53.25$ and $K_i = 0.0232$ at 4°C.; $\Lambda_0 = 67.30$ and $K_i = 0.147$ at 15°C.

Conductances for hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide have been reported in ethanol at 25°C. by Goldschmidt and Dahll (76). Both acids are somewhat stronger than hydrogen chloride (figure 1B), although they are still relatively weak electrolytes. Limiting conductances of 88.9 (HBr) and 93.2 (HI) were extrapolated graphically $(\Lambda - \sqrt[3]{c})$.

Conductance data are also available for the series hydrogen chloride, hydrogen bromide, and hydrogen iodide in *n*-propyl alcohol (79) (D.C._{25°} = 20.1), *n*-butyl alcohol (77) (D.C._{25°} = 17.1), and isobutyl alcohol (75) $(D.C_{25^{\circ}} = 17.7)$, and for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen iodide in isoamyl alcohol (105) (D.C._{25°} = 14.7). Data for these are illustrated in figure 2. A number of conductance measurements have been reported for hydrogen chloride in isoamyl alcohol-benzene mixtures at 30°C. by Bhide and Watson (9) and are illustrated in figure 3. Dolby and Robertson (36) measured the conductivity of hydrogen chloride in phenol at two concentrations and observed that the equivalent conductances were considerably less than 1 at 50°C. The accuracy of conductance measurements in these alcohols is considerably less than that in methanol or ethanol. In the case of solutions of hydrogen iodide in isoamyl and isobutyl alcohols a yellow color was noted, indicating decomposition of the acid. Although the data are not satisfactory for the determination of Λ_0 's and K_i 's, they are nevertheless quite useful in ascertaining the relative strengths of the acids in the alcohols.

In *n*-propyl alcohol the acids are somewhat weaker than in corresponding ethanol solutions. Limiting conductances of 46.6 (for hydrogen chloride) and 47.2 (for hydrogen bromide) were estimated empirically by Goldschmidt and Thomas (79) from plots of $\Lambda -\sqrt[3]{c}$ and should be regarded as of qualitative significance only.



FIG. 2. Hydrogen halides in alcohols. A: *n*-Propyl alcohol (79). B: Isobutyl alcohol (75). C: *n*-Butyl alcohol (77).

The phoreograms for the three acids in isobutyl alcohol and *n*-butyl alcohol are typical of weak electrolytes, i.e., sharp tail-up at low concentrations. A detailed analysis of the conductances in terms of weak electrolyte concepts awaits further measurements at lower concentrations. The limited measurements for hydrogen iodide in isoamyl alcohol are only of interest insofar as they show an anomalous increase in conductance with concentration.

The phoreograms for hydrogen chloride in isoamyl alcohol and isoamyl alcohol-benzene mixtures (9) (figure 3) show pronounced minima and an anomalous increase in conductance with concentration at higher concentrations. In addition the minimum is displaced to higher concentrations with increasing dielectric constant in accordance with the behavior predicted by ionpair (10) and triple-ion theories (66). Quantitative treatment of the data in accord with these concepts has not been successful.

On comparison of the results for the alcohols, several factors are noted: (1) the conductivities of the acids increase in the order HCl < HBr < HI in individual alcohols; (2) the conductivities of the individual acids decrease as the number of carbon atoms in the alkyl

group increases. For example, using the data of Goldschmidt and coworkers for hydrogen chloride, the equivalent conductance of a $3.91 \times 10^{-4} N$ solution decreases as follows: Λ , 187.9 (n = 1); 76.9 (n = 2); 37.41 (n = 3); 20.80 (n = 4) in the series $C_nH_{2n+1}OH$. The decrease in conductance with increasing number of carbon atoms is due largely to the higher viscosities and lower dielectric constants of the more complex alcohols. Furthermore, there is evidence that the basicities of the alcohols decrease with the increasing number of carbon atoms (122), and this would tend to minimize the ionogenic displacement equilibrium: ROH + HX \rightleftharpoons ROH₂⁺ + X⁻.

(3) Phoreograms of the acids in alcohols tend toward minima with increasing acid concentration. This effect becomes more noticeable with decreasing dielectric constants of the alcohols, and in the case of isoamyl alcohol and isoamyl alcohol-benzene mixtures (9) has been observed experimentally. Although the minima can be understood qualitatively in terms of the formation of ion aggregates, further work is required before a good understanding of these solutions is possible.

Conductivity measurements of acidified alcohol solutions (particularly at high acid concentration) are often complicated by the presence of side reactions, two of the most important being (1) esterification of trace amounts of organic acid impurities (HX acting as catalyst):

 $RCOOH + ROH + HX \approx RCOOR + HX + H_2O$

and (2) formation of alkyl halides:

$$ROH + HX \rightleftharpoons RX + H_2O$$



FIG. 3. Hydrogen chloride in isoamyl alcohol-benzene mixtures (9). A: Pure isoamyl alcohol. B: 20 per cent benzene + isoamyl alcohol. C: 40 per cent benzene + isoamyl alcohol.

both with the formation of water as one of the reaction products.

Numerous investigations have been reported on the kinetics of esterification (75, 76, 79) (see reference 96 for a comprehensive discussion) and the formation of alkyl halides (6, 72, 73, 81, 89, 185) in acidified alcohols. It should be noted that esterification can be minimized by exhaustive purification of the solvent. Relative to the second reaction above, the following points should be noted: (a) the rate of formation of alkyl halides from alcohols increases in the order primary < secondary <tertiary (21, 57); (b) solutions of hydrogen iodide are most reactive, while those of hydrogen chloride are most stable (57, 73) (hydrogen iodide can also decompose photochemically); (c) acidified solutions of primary alcohols react very slowly at room temperature in accord with relatively high values for the energies of activation (25-30 kcal.) (89), e.g., the formation of alkyl chlorides at 20°C. is incomplete even after a period of several months (73, 185). The rate of alkyl halide formation increases markedly with increasing temperatures (72, 73). Smith (185) has observed that the hydrogen chloride concentration of a 5 \times 10⁻³ N methanol solution decreases by 2 per cent after a period of 100 hr. at 30°C.; at 50°C. the hydrogen chloride concentration decreased by 16 per cent for the same period.

The extent of reaction for a large number of alcohols with hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide has been measured (72, 73), and the interactions of alcohols with hydrogen halides have been reviewed by Gerrard, Madden, and Tolcher (73).

2. Aldehydes and ketones

Solvents with a carbonyl polar group are usually weak donors and as a consequence acid-base interactions occur to a slight extent only. Conductance results for the hydrohalide acids in aldehydes and ketones (25, 37, 106, 177) (shown in figure 4) are limited and of qualitative nature only. Measurements are complicated by side reactions, e.g., aldol condensation, and stable electrical resistances are generally uncommon, e.g., the conductivity of hydrogen chloride increases with time in cinnamaldehyde (177) and acetone (132). From figure 4 it is apparent that hydrogen chloride is an extremely poor conductor in all of these solvents. The questionable accuracy and the occurrence of chemical reactions preclude any meaningful analysis of the data.

Relative to the acetone-hydrogen chloride system the following points are to be noted. Sackur (177) reported no evidence for a chemical reaction in the latter system, although his results were in poor agreement with the earlier work of Kahlenberg and Lincoln (106). In more recent publications, Kane (109) and Everett and Rasmussen (45) were unable to obtain reproducible conductances and e.m.f. measurements at 25°C. Unpublished data of Kane (109) showed that hydrogen chloride is a very weak electrolyte in acetone with a K_i value of the order of 10⁻⁸. Aged solutions attained a yellowish color and characteristic odor, indicating some chemical reaction. Dorofeeva and Kudra (37) found that the specific conductance passed through a minimum at 0.087 *M* hydrogen chloride and a maximum at 1.32 *M* hydrogen chloride in acetone. In addition, two decomposition potentials were observed in polarographic current-voltage curves and were attributed to the formation of solvated hydrogen chloride species. The presence of chemical reactions was not discussed by these authors.

Maass, Miller, and Danyluk (132) confirmed that fresh solutions of hydrogen chloride are unstable at



FIG. 4. Hydrogen chloride in aldehydes and ketones. (a) Cinnamaldehyde (177). (b) Benzaldehyde (177). (c) Acetone (177). (d) Acetaldehyde (25).

room temperature with the conductivity showing a marked increase with time and the solutions becoming a deep brown in color. By contrast, solutions prepared at -75° C. are quite stable up to -20° C. and do not show any conductance or color change with time.

The unstable nature may be associated with an acidcatalyzed condensation of acetone to mesityl oxide and phorone with two and three molecules of acetone, respectively (40) (cf. Fieser and Fieser (52) and Karrer (110)). Thus:

$$CH_{3} \xrightarrow{O} + H_{2}CH \xrightarrow{O} - CH_{3} \xrightarrow{HX} CH_{3}$$

Acetone

$$CH_{3} O \\ \square \\ C = CHCCH_{3} + H_{2}O + HX$$

CH₃
Mesityl oxide

and



Colonge (26) investigated a number of ketones in the presence of hydrogen chloride and confirmed their condensation at 25°C. An unstable β -chloroketone intermediate which is readily destroyed by water or alkaline solutions was isolated in several systems.

The kinetics of the acid-catalyzed condensation of ketones are not known with any degree of certainty. The following processes seem to contribute to the reaction mechanism (96). An acid-base interaction converting the carbonyl group to its conjugate acid occurs, e.g., for acetone:

$$(CH_3)_2C = O + H^+ \rightleftharpoons [(CH_3)_2C = OH]^+$$

and the conjugate acid exists in the tautomeric forms,

$$[(CH_3)_2C = OH]^+ \longleftrightarrow [(CH_3)_2 \dot{C}OH]$$

i.e., the oxonium and carbonium ions. The carbonium ion is strongly electrophilic and may interact with the enolic species:

$$(CH_{\mathfrak{d}})_{2}^{\dagger}COH + CH_{2} = C - CH_{\mathfrak{d}} \rightarrow (CH_{\mathfrak{d}})_{2}C(OH)CH_{\mathfrak{d}}COCH_{\mathfrak{d}} + H^{+}$$

forming the ketol, which in turn undergoes dehydration to mesityl oxide. Thus the conductance increase with time observed in acetone-hydrogen chloride solutions (128, 132) may be understood as due to the formation of H₃O⁺ ions by this reaction. Ion-pairs of the type [(CH₃)₂C=OH]+X⁻ and [(CH₃)₂COH]X⁻ are undoubtedly important in the condensation processes (as evidenced by the isolation of β -chloroketones) and must be considered in any complete account of the interactions in this system.

Acidified solutions of aldehydes undergo similar condensation reactions. Thus acetaldehyde condenses to form aldol and crotonaldehyde (52):

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H & H & OH \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ CH_{3}C = O + HCH_{2}C = O & \xrightarrow{HX} & CH_{3}CHCH_{2}CHO \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & CH_{3}CH = CHCHO + H_{2}O + HX \\ & & Crotonaldehyde \end{array}$$

Acetaldehyde also polymerizes to the trimer, paraldehyde, under the influence of an acid catalyst (52). The anomalous increase in conductance with concentration occurring in acetaldehyde (25), paraldehyde (25), and cinnamaldehyde (177) solutions may be associated in part with the condensation reaction.

Conductance data for hydrogen halides in aldehydes or ketones seem to be limited to hydrogen chloride. Measurements for hydrogen bromide-acetone solutions are in progress and results (128) indicate a behavior similar to that of hydrogen chloride.

Sackur (177), as early as 1902, attributed the low conductivities in aldehydes and ketones to the weak basic properties of the carbonyl group. He suggested the dissociation of solvent-solute addition compounds to account for the decrease in conductivity with dilution in cinnamaldehyde-hydrogen chloride solutions, with the free solvent and the free acid assumed to be nonionic. The formation of addition compounds between hydrohalide acids and compounds with the carbonyl group is now well known (129, 143), and the existence of ions of the type $[RR'C=-O-H]^+$ in solution must be considered in any assessment of conductance results.

The donor properties of the carbonyl group have been investigated recently by infrared techniques. Cook (29) has noted a linear correlation, given by $\nu_{\rm HC1} =$ 179.43 I.P. + 807, between the ionization potential (I.P.) of compounds with the carbonyl group and the variation of $\nu_{\rm HC1}$, the fundamental stretching frequency of hydrogen chloride.

3. Ethers

Although solvents with ether links, R-O-R', are potentially interesting media for hydrogen halides because of the donor properties of the oxygen lone-pair electrons, conductance measurements have been reported in one system only, i.e., diethyl ether $(D.C._{20^\circ} =$ 4.33) at 18°C. Hydrogen chloride was found to be an extremely poor conductor in the latter solvent (38, 150) with equivalent conductances much less than 1 in the range investigated, 0.02-6.3 equiv. liter⁻¹. Mounajed (150) attributed the minimum in the phoreogram shown in figure 5 to a combination of H⁺ and Cl⁻ with undissociated hydrogen chloride. Although the precise nature of the interactions was not discussed, it is not unlikely that ions of the type H_2Cl^+ and HCl_{-}^- exist in ether solutions at high concentration. The polarographic curve for ethyl ether-hydrogen chloride shows only one decomposition potential (2.16-2.18 volts) and has been attributed (38) to the discharge of a hydrogen atom from unionized $(C_2H_5)_2O \cdot HCl$. The potential dropped to 1 volt after several days; according to Dorofeeva and Kudra (38) this effect was due to the formation of H_2O and H_3O^+ ions.

The conductivity of freshly prepared solutions of hydrogen chloride in ether increased slowly with time; e.g., Λ for a 0.02 N solution increased from 0.00588

 $ohm^{-1}cm.^2$ to $0.0853~ohm^{-1}cm.^2$ over a period of one month. Mounajed attributed this effect to the reaction:

$$(C_2H_5)_2O + 2HCl \rightarrow 2C_2H_5Cl + H_2O$$

the conductance increase resulting from the formation of small amounts of water. No kinetic evidence was



FIG. 5. Hydrogen chloride in diethyl ether (150).

cited. In view of the relatively dilute nature of the solutions, it is more likely that the ether is cleaved to ethyl chloride and ethanol.

The cleavage of ethers to halides and alcohols

$$ROR' + HX \rightarrow ROH + R'X$$

has been reviewed recently by Burwell (18). Ethers with a methoxy group are split most readily to methyl halide and alcohol (18). Of the hydrogen halides, hydrogen iodide is the most effective reagent and is used in the Zeisel method (208) for methoxy groups. In the cleavage of ethers, oxonium-salt formation $[RR'OH]^+$ is generally assumed as an intermediate in acidic media (18). The role of ion-pairs, $[RR'OH]^+X^-$, in the cleavage is not fully understood. The electrochemical properties of ether-hydrogen halide complexes (table 2) are therefore of considerable interest. Conductance measurements under conditions where chemical reactions are minimized (low temperatures) are essential to further understanding.

A number of conductance measurements have been reported at -89° C. and -100° C. for methyl and ethyl ether-hydrogen chloride (130) and methyl and ethyl ether-hydrogen bromide systems (128) over the concentration range 0–100 per cent acid. These were concerned mainly in correlating the conductivity change with the nature of the binary freezing-point curves. Of particular significance were the observations that conductivities of ether-HX mixtures were much higher than those of the pure components. For example, the specific conductance of a 1:1 ethyl ether-hydrogen bromide mixture at its melting point, -40° C., was 4.5×10^{-3} ohm⁻¹cm.⁻¹, while that of pure hydrogen bromide at its melting point was $<10^{-6}$ ohm⁻¹cm.⁻¹ The molecular complexes accordingly possess a fair amount of ionic character.

4. Pyridinic compounds

Pyridinic solvents, in accord with the lone-pair electrons and the low ionization potentials (table 1), possess marked basic properties. Interactions with hydrogen halides occur readily in these systems, and relatively stable compounds (predominantly ionic) are isolable in most cases (table 2).

The conductivities of hydrogen halides (as pyridinium halides) in pyridine $(D.C._{25^{\circ}} = 12.10)$ have been reported by a number of authors (2, 20, 31, 174, 200) and are shown in figure 6. Pyridinium chloride $(C_{5}H_{5}NH^{+}Cl^{-})$ is an extremely weak electrolyte in pyridine (2) at 25°C. with Λ values slightly greater than 1. Using an assumed value of $\Lambda_0 = 93$ [based on the limiting conductances of the pyridinium (49.6) and chloride ions (43) (table 4)] and activity coefficients calculated by the Gronwall, La Mer, and Sandved extension (84), Angerstein (2) evaluated the thermodynamic ionization constant (K_i) for pyridinium chloride as 7.15×10^{-7} from conductance and e.m.f. data for this electrolyte. The preceding method requires a knowledge of accurate limiting mobilities, and its utility is severely limited in the majority of nonaqueous solvents. The above value of Λ_0 does not seem in accord



FIG. 6. Hydrogen halides in pyridine and quinoline. (a) Pyridinium iodide in pyridine (200). (b) Pyridinium iodide in pyridine (31). (c) Pyridinium bromide in pyridine (174). (d) Pyridinium chloride in pyridine (2). (e) Aniline hydrobromide in quinoline (200).

with the conductance data for pyridinium iodide solutions (cf. below).

Sachanov (174) measured the conductivity of pyridinium bromide (C₅H₅NH+Br⁻) in pyridine at 25°C., but was not able to evaluate Λ_0 and K_i . Although the phoreogram for this salt passes through a shallow minimum at 0.12 equiv. liter⁻¹, a triple-ion plot of $\Lambda \sqrt{c}$ versus c does not yield a straight line, as predicted by theory (66).

Included in figure 6 are two sets of conductance data for pyridinium iodide in pyridine at 25°C. Agreement between the more extensive measurements of Walden (200) and those of Davies (31) is not satisfactory. The latter estimated values of Λ_0 (86.7) and K_i (5.9 × 10⁻⁴) by the approximation method of Fuoss and Kraus; Walden's Λ_0 value of 75.0 was extrapolated graphically. The results of Davies' analysis seem more reliable, since the measurements were extended to lower concentrations. The presence of a well-defined minimum at 0.0125 equiv. liter⁻¹ in the phoreogram for pyridinium iodide is of interest. As in the case of the hydrobromide, the data did not fit a triple-ion plot.

Thus, from the available data the strengths of the acids increase in the order HCl < HBr < HI and pyridine acts as a differentiating solvent. Considerable association into ion-pairs and triplets would be expected in a solvent of low dielectric constant, such as pyridine. The inability to fit the data for hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide in terms of a triple-ion plot $(\Lambda\sqrt{c} \text{ versus } c)$ is therefore somewhat unexpected and warrants further investigation. It appears that ions of the type $C_5H_5NH^+HX_2^-$ may account for the anomalous increase in conductance at higher concentrations, and in this respect it should be noted that compounds of the composition $C_5H_5N.2HX$ have been isolated for hydrogen chloride (43, 44) and hydrogen bromide (112) (table 2).

Some semiquantitative measurements have also been reported (200) for aniline hydrobromide ($C_6H_5NH_3^+Br^-$) in quinoline (D.C. = 8.9) (figure 6), but other than indicating the extremely poor conducting properties of the latter solutions and the anomalous nature of the phoreogram they seem of limited value.

5. Amines

The solvent properties of amines are somewhat similar to those of pyridinic compounds. Amines are markedly basic and form hydrohalide salts readily with acids. Amine salts are analogous to ammonium halides and are formed by passing the hydrohalide gas through solutions of the amines in ether. The unshared lone-pair electrons on the nitrogen are donated to the acid, and scission of the H—X bond to form the salt follows; i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{RNH}_2 + \mathrm{HX} &\rightleftharpoons \mathrm{RNH}_2 \to \mathrm{HX} \\ \mathrm{RNH}_2 &\to \mathrm{HX} &\rightleftharpoons \mathrm{RNH}_3^+ \mathrm{X}^- \end{aligned}$$

The relative basicities of amines have been discussed in recent papers (14, 82, 193) and have been reviewed in several books (52, 155). Because of their low dielectric constants, amines are poor solvent media for salts and considerable ionic association will occur in the solutions.

The most extensive measurements in amines are those of Hlasko (92), who reported conductivities for four aniline hydrohalides, $C_6H_5NH_2 \cdot HX$ (X = F, Cl, Br, I) in aniline (D.C._{25°} = 6.89) at 25°C. The results are illustrated in figure 7 with the exception of the data for X = F. The conductances for the latter are less than for X = Cl in this series. The four salts are all poor conductors with equivalent conductances considerably less than 1, except in the most concentrated hydrobromide and hydroiodide solutions. Of the four



FIG. 7. Hydrogen halides in aniline at 25°C. (92). (a) Hydrogen chloride. (b) Hydrogen bromide. (c) Hydrogen iodide.

salts, aniline hydroiodide is the best conductor while aniline hydrofluoride is the poorest; aniline is thus a differentiating solvent for the acids.

The minima in the phoreograms occur in approximately the same concentration range, i.e., 10^{-2} to 2.5×10^{-2} equiv. liter⁻¹. An analysis of the data in terms of triple-ion theory was not successful however, and the exact nature of the ionic species at higher concentrations in these solutions is in considerable doubt. Maxima have also been observed in several phoreograms at high concentrations, but an interpretation in terms of ion quadruples etc. is not obvious (84).

The values for the ionization constants calculated by Hlasko (92) for the four salts, using the Ostwald dilution law,

$$K = \Lambda^2 c / \Lambda_0 (\Lambda_0 - \Lambda) \tag{1}$$

where Λ_0 was estimated by Walden's rule, are incorrect, since recalculation shows the data do not in fact obey this relationship. It is doubtful that accurate determinations of Λ_0 and K_i are possible in the above systems, because of the very low conductivities of the dilute solutions, e.g., the resistance of a 10^{-2} equiv. liter⁻¹ solution of aniline hydrochloride is of the same order as that of the pure solvent. Measurements at concentrations where the dilution law holds ($< 10^{-4} N$) are not experimentally feasible.

Agreement between the results of Hlasko and those of other investigators (Hodgson and Marsden (93, 94) for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen iodide; Pearce (162) for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide; Pound (167) for hydrogen chloride; Sackur (177) for hydrogen chloride; Walden (200)) is relatively good (within 5 per cent in some cases) considering the difficulties in measurement. Pearce (162) has also reported conductivities for aniline hydrochloride and aniline hydrobromide in aniline at 0°C. and 35°C. Both solutes show an increase in conductances with an increase in temperature, and their phoreograms exhibit minima in the same concentration range as at 25° C.

Hodgson and Marsden (94) attempted to interpret the conductance behavior of aniline hydrohalides in aniline by assuming that a significant amount of the salt existed in the form of an undissociated solvated complex in dilute solutions. Equilibria of the following type were postulated in solution:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{RNH}_{2} \cdot \operatorname{HX} &\rightleftharpoons \operatorname{RNH}_{3}^{+} + \operatorname{X}^{-} & K_{1} \\ \operatorname{RNH}_{2} \cdot \operatorname{HX} &+ \operatorname{RNH}_{2} \rightleftharpoons (\operatorname{RNH}_{2})_{2} \cdot \operatorname{HX} & K_{2} \\ (\operatorname{RNH}_{2})_{2} \cdot \operatorname{HX} &\rightleftharpoons (\operatorname{RNH}_{2})_{2} \operatorname{H}^{+} + \operatorname{X}^{-} & K_{3} \end{aligned}$$



FIG. 8. Hydrogen halides in o-toluidine at 25 °C. (a) Toluidine hydrochloride (177). (b) Toluidine hydrobromide (176). (c) Toluidine hydroiodide (176). (d) Pyridine hydrobromide (200). (e) Aniline hydrobromide (200).

where $(\text{RNH}_2)_2 \cdot \text{HX}$ is the solvated complex. A series of expressions were derived relating the measured molar conductivity to Λ_0 , the total concentration of solute, *C*, and constants $K = K_3/K_1^{1/2}$ and $\alpha = K_1K_2/(1 - K_2)$. The values for the equilibrium constants, K_1 , 0.36; K_2 , 0.10; K_3 , 0.091, for the aniline hydroiodide salt seem



FIG. 9. Hydrogen chloride in (A) dimethylamine hydrochloride (42) and (B) ethylamine hydrochloride (42).

improbably high. The assumption that the Kohlrausch law is valid for the entire concentration range in the above does not seem justified.

In o-toluidine (D.C._{18°} = 5.95) conductance measurements for the three acids hydrogen chloride (177), hydrogen bromide (78, 176) and hydrogen iodide (176) (in the form of the o-toluidine salts) indicate that they are very weak electrolytes with properties similar to those in analogous solutions in aniline. The phoreograms are shown in figure 8. A limited number of measurements have also been reported for pyridine and aniline hydrobromides (200) in o-toluidine. A distinguishing feature in all of the above cases is the decrease in conductance with dilution; a reversal of this undoubtedly occurs at still lower concentrations.

Sachanov (176) noted that the data for *o*-toluidine hydrobromide and hydroiodide fit an empirical equation of the form $\Lambda V^n = K$, where V = dilution and n and K are constants; e.g., n = 0.23 and K = 0.054 for the hydrobromide salt.

Conductance measurements have been reported by Elsey (42) for hydrogen chloride, over a considerable concentration range, in ethylamine (D.C._{100°} = 4.3 (gas)) and dimethylamine (D.C._{100°} = 3.3 (gas)) at -33.5°C. In both systems the phoreograms, as shown in figure 9, for hydrogen chloride (in the form of the respective salts) show minima and maxima. The data do not lend themselves for an estimate of the Λ_0 's or K_i 's nor can the data be interpreted adequately in terms of ion-aggregate concepts. The minimum in dimethylamine solutions occurs at a somewhat lower concentration, 4.7 $\times 10^{-3}$ N, than in ethylamine, 2.0 $\times 10^{-2}$ N.

6. Nitriles

Solvents containing the $-C \equiv N$ polar group are weakly basic (194) with donor properties attributable to the lone-pair electrons on the nitrogen and the π electrons of the carbon-nitrogen triple bond in the cyano group. The formation of acid-base addition compounds in nitrile-hydrogen halide systems is well established (100, 154). For example, the complexes formed between hydrogen chloride, hydrogen bromide, hydrogen iodide and acetonitrile have been characterized by chemical analysis (100), freezing-point measurements (154), and infrared spectra both in the solid state and in solution (100). Solid substrates corresponding to the empirical formula CH₃CN · 2HX were isolated for the three acids; the structure of $CH_3CN \cdot 2HCl$ was shown to be essentially that of a nitrilium salt, $[CH_3CNH]^+$. HCl_2^- , while the structures of the compounds formed from hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide were of the imino hydrohalide type, $CH_3C(X) = NH_2^+X^-$ (100). Since the dielectric constants of nitriles (e.g., CH₃CN_{25°} = 37.5) are somewhat higher than those of the analogous alcohols, their potentialities as solvents for ionogens and ionophores are of considerable interest.

Conductivity data for hydrogen halides in nitriles are meagre, the most extensive being those for acetonitrile-hydrogen chloride solutions. Pleskov (165) reported that hydrogen chloride is a strong electrolyte in acetonitrile (D.C.₂₅₀ = 37.5) with little or no ionic association. This has not been confirmed in more recent investigations (99, 100, 101). Freshly prepared solutions of hydrogen chloride show marked increases in conductance with time (99) and "stabilized" equivalent conductances (101) are considerably lower than Pleskov's values, differing by more than a hundredfold, (see figure 10). Although reproducibility in measure-



F1G. 10. Conductance-concentration variation: A, equilibrated CH₃CN-HCl; B, initial (zero-time) solutions (101).

ments was less than desirable in the latter work, the phoreogram was shown to pass through a shallow minimum at approximately 5×10^{-2} equiv. liter⁻¹. Comparison of the phoreogram for stabilized solutions with that of freshly prepared solutions (figure 10 (extrapolated to zero time)) shows that the two curves are basically similar, apart from the lower conductivities



FIG. 11. Hydrogen halides in acetonitrile at 25°C. (101).

of the zero-time solutions. This suggests that the ions formed during the conductance equilibration process are identical to those present at zero time. Polarographic measurements (24, 196) are in accord with the weak acidic nature of hydrogen chloride in acetonitrile. There is insufficient information in the Pleskov paper to resolve the disagreement of his results with the above, and no explanation can be offered accordingly.

Hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide also are weak electrolytes in acetonitrile (101) (figure 11). Their conductivities, however, are considerably greater than that of hydrogen chloride, increasing in the ratio 1:20:60 at 10^{-3} N. A minimum is noted for the hydrogen bromide phoreogram at approximately $1.0-1.2 \times 10^{-2}$ equiv. liter⁻¹.

Solutions of both hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide in acetonitrile show changes in conductivity with time, an increase being observed in the former and a decrease followed by an increase for the latter. The magnitudes of the changes are considerably less than for comparable solutions of hydrogen chloride and "equilibration" is achieved more rapidly.

Limiting conductances and K_i could not be evaluated for any of the hydrogen halides by the usual weak electrolyte methods nor was it possible to explain the minima in the conductance curves in terms of ionic association leading to triple-ion aggregates.

The conductances for both hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide were found to fit an empirical equation of the form:

$$\Lambda = A + Bm^{-1/2}$$

Constants A and B were evaluated from the linear plots of Λ versus $m^{-1/2}$. Inspection of the results for other ionogenic solutions (see table 8) shows that this equation applies to other solvent systems as well, i.e., it seems general in nature.

A qualitative interpretation of the conductivity results in acetonitrile has been given (99, 101) in terms of donor-acceptor interactions of the following type:

$$CH_{3}CN + HX \rightleftharpoons CH_{3}CN \cdot HX$$
$$CH_{3}CN \cdot HX \rightleftharpoons CH_{3}CNH^{+}X^{-}$$
$$(Outer complex) (Inner complex)$$
$$CH_{3}CNH^{+}X^{-} \rightleftharpoons CH_{3}CNH^{+} + X_{solv}^{-}$$

where acetonitrile acts as onium donor and HX as $\sigma_{\rm D}$ dissociative acceptor (Mulliken (152)). Thus the nitrile and acid form a 1:1 addition compound, i.e., an "outer" charge-transfer complex in which the bonding of the acid is still largely of the σ type. The rearrangement from an "outer" to an "inner" charge complex (above) is followed by the ionization of the "inner" complex (above) to yield solvated ions in the solution. The solvated anion $X_{\rm solv}^-$ may interact with another acid acceptor, i.e., HX, to form the bihalide triple ion (87), i.e.:

$$\mathrm{HX} + \mathrm{X}_{\mathrm{solv}} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{HX}_{2\,\mathrm{solv}}$$

The overall interactions would be equivalent to the formation of nitrilium type salts, of the empirical formula $CH_3CN \cdot 2HX$.

Equally probable is the action of acetonitrile by virtue of its π -ketoid acceptor properties. The canonical structures of the compound from the initial solvent-solute interaction

$$[CH_{\mathfrak{g}}C \Longrightarrow NH^{+}X^{-} \rightleftharpoons CH_{\mathfrak{g}}C^{+} \Longrightarrow NH \cdot X^{-}]$$

must be considered. Interaction with the second molecule of acid would be an attack by the electronegative halide atom on the carbon atom of the nitrile group

$$[CH_{s}C^{+}=NH\cdot X^{-}] + HX \approx CH_{s}C=NH_{r}^{+}X^{-}$$

and consequent ionization of the imino hydrohalide

$$\begin{array}{c} X & X \\ \downarrow \\ \mathrm{CH}_{\$} \overset{I}{\mathrm{C}} = \mathrm{NH}_{2}^{+} X^{-} \approx \mathrm{CH}_{\$} \overset{I}{\mathrm{C}} = \mathrm{NH}_{2}^{+} + X_{\mathrm{iol}}, \end{array}$$

The increased polarizabilities of hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide favor an enhancement of the iminotype interactions over that in the acetonitrile-hydrogen chloride system.

At low acid concentrations ions of the types CH_3CNH^+ and X^- predominate and phoreograms exhibit the characteristics of a weak electrolyte; at high acid concentrations more complex ionic species, e.g., HX_2^- and $[CH_3C(X)=NH_2]^+$, are present in appreciable concentration and an anomalous conductance increase

with acid concentration results. In summary, it appears that at least two processes occur in these solutions whereby free ions are produced. The first (practically instantaneously) involves the direct transfer of protons from HX to CH_3CN to form the ions CH_3CNH^+ and X^- , which exist as associated pairs and free ions. This may account for the conductance at time zero. The second is the chemical interaction series in which the slowness of the second step (formation of imino hydrohalide) seems to determine the measurable (low) rate of increase in conductance, since the other two steps attain equilibrium almost instantaneously.

The conductivities of the addition compounds $CH_3CN \cdot 2HCl$ and $CH_3CN \cdot 2HBr$ have also been measured in acetonitrile (100) and are illustrated in figure 12. The conductances are quite similar in magnitude and variation to those for the individual acids. The agreement of the limiting slope for $CH_3CN \cdot 2HCl$ with that predicted theoretically for ion-pair formation,



FIG. 12. CH₃CN \cdot 2HX in acetonitrile at 25 °C. (100). A: CH₃CN \cdot 2HCl. B: CH₃CN \cdot 2HBr.

i.e., $-\frac{1}{2}$, may be of significance. The slopes of log Λ -log c plots for hydrogen bromide and CH₃CN · 2HBr approach limiting values of $-\frac{1}{3}$.

Except for some preliminary measurements in propionitrile and benzonitrile (102) which indicate a behavior for hydrogen chloride similar to that in acetonitrile, no conductances have been reported in nitriles other than acetonitrile. The conductivity of hydrogen chloride in hydrogen cyanide also increases rapidly with time, but the measurements are only qualitative (107).

Relative to the electrical conductance of hydrogen halides, the hydrolysis of nitriles to amides and carboxylic acids warrants consideration (125, 144, 147, 168, 169). Rabinowitch and Winkler investigated the hydrolysis of acetonitrile (168) and propionitrile (169) in aqueous concentrated acidic media (hydrochloric and hydrobromic acids). The reaction:

$$\operatorname{RCN} \xrightarrow{H_2O}_{k_1} \operatorname{RCONH}_2 \xrightarrow{H_2O}_{k_2} \operatorname{RCOOH} + \operatorname{NH}_{\mathfrak{s}}$$

was shown to be a consecutive irreversible and unimolecular process. The rate increases with increasing acid concentrations. In the concentration range less than 4 N, the first step is rate determining, i. e., $k_1 \ll k_2$, whereas at extremely high concentrations (greater than 11 N), the second step seems to be rate determining. In a 1 N aqueous solution of hydrochloric acid the energy of activation for the hydrolysis was found to be 26.5 kcal./mol. At room temperatures the hydrolysis of acetonitrile proceeds very slowly, and was found incomplete even after a period of several months (147). Hydrogen bromide was less efficient than hydrogen chloride as catalyst in this process (125, 144). Relative to measurements in anhydrous systems, a qualitative observation (99, 101) was reported that CH_3CONH_2 . HCl was found present after long standing at room temperature if water in trace amounts had been added initially to freshly prepared anhydrous solutions of hydrogen chloride in acetonitrile. Due precautions at all steps of the experimental measurements in anhydrous solutions are essential to ensure that the possibility of side reactions such as hydrolyses is reduced to a minimum. A need exists for observations, both qualitative and quantitative, on the influence of trace amounts of water in anhydrous systems generally relative to such measurements.

7. Amides

Amides are in general polar solvents with relatively high dielectric constants in comparison with other organic compounds (e.g., formamide, $D.C_{20^{\circ}} = 111.5$). They are accordingly good ionizing media for electrolytes, as is seen by conductivity measurements. Amides have two functional groups which can donate electrons, i.e., C==O and --NH₂. Accordingly complexes of the types

are probable. Recent spectroscopic measurements (29) are not in accord with the general view that salts of the type $\text{RCONH}_3^+X^-$ predominate (96) and act as intermediates in hydrolysis reactions. Thus the shift of the fundamental absorption band, $\nu_{C=0}$, in amides to longer wavelengths is understood by the interaction between the proton and the carbonyl group.

Dawson, Newell, and McCreary (33) have reported measurements for hydrogen chloride in formamide (D.C._{20°} = 111.5) at 3°, 20°, and 40°C. The phoreograms for hydrogen chloride are shown in figure 13. The following values were obtained by extrapolations: Λ_0 at 3°C. = 14.41; Λ_0 at 20°C. = 24.50; Λ_0 at 40°C. = 39.40. The conductance curves approached the theoretical curves from above, and it was concluded that ionic association did not occur in these solutions. Since the data were for moderately concentrated solutions, 5.38 \times 10⁻² to 45.54×10^{-2} equiv. liter⁻¹, over a relatively small concentration range, the applicability of the Onsager equation may be fortuitous. The mobility of the solvated proton was found to be less than that of potassium ion in formamide. The possibility of solvent-solute addition compounds such as xHCONH₂-yHCl in these solutions seems not improbable.

Conductivity measurements for the addition compounds $HCONH_2 \cdot 3HCl$ and $2HCONH_2 \cdot 3HBr$ in formamide (figure 13) had been reported earlier by Röhler (171) but the data are too limited for adequate interpretation.

Equivalent conductance measurements have recently been recorded for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide in acetamide (D.C.₉₄° = 60.6) at 94°C. by



FIG. 13. Hydrogen halides in amides. (a, b, c) Hydrogen chloride in formamide at 40°, 20°, and 3°C., respectively (33). (d) Hydrogen chloride in N,N-dimethylformamide at 20°C. (191). (e) HCONH₂·3HCl in formamide (171). (f) 2HCONH₂·3HBr in formamide (171).

Jander and Winkler (98). Limiting equivalent conductances, 34.24 (HCl) and 34.59 (HBr), were determined using the Shedlovsky modification of the Onsager equation (181). The measurements were for relatively high concentrations and small range (0.03-0.15 equiv. kg.⁻¹) and the validity of the constants obtained by the extrapolations may be questioned accordingly. The addition compounds

$2CH_{3}CONH_{2} \cdot HBr$ and $2CH_{3}CONH_{2} \cdot HCl$

were confirmed by Jander and Winkler (97) without discussions relative to the ionization processes of these in acetamide. The well-characterized 1:1 compound, $CH_3CONH_2 \cdot HCl$ (108), was apparently not noted by these investigators.

Rochow and Thomas (191), Dawson, Golben, Leader, and Zimmerman (32), and Sears, Wolford, and Dawson (179) have shown that hydrogen chloride is a weak electrolyte in N,N-dimethylformamide (D.C._{20°} = 38.3) at 20°C. (figure 13). The values for Λ_0 and K_i , 79.3 and 2.83 $\times 10^{-4}$, respectively, were estimated by Rochow and Thomas from an Ostwald law graphical plot. Dawson and coworkers, by extrapolation of the phoreogram, reported a value of 70 for Λ_0 . Reëvaluation of the Dawson data, using the Ostwald law, yields 65.3 and 6.55 $\times 10^{-4}$ for these parameters. Some of the difficulties in attaining reproducible measurements in the preceding system have been discussed by Rochow and Thomas. Discrepancies in conductivities were attributed to the presence of small amounts of water and/or basic impurities.

Sears, Wolford, and Dawson (179) have measured the conductivity of hydrogen bromide in N,N-dimethylformamide at 25°C. Although hydrogen bromide is a much stronger acid than hydrogen chloride it shows incomplete dissociation; e.g., the calculated value for the Onsager slope is -163, while the observed value is -313. The limiting equivalent conductance and K_i , by the Fuoss-Shedlovsky method for weak electrolytes, were found to be 88.7 and 1.7×10^{-4} , respectively. The limiting mobility of the protonated dimethylformamide cation was of the same order of magnitude as that of other cations.

Relative to conductivity data in amides it should be noted that these solvents are subject to hydrolysis by acids in the presence of water, much in the manner as for nitriles, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{RCONH}_{2} \xrightarrow{H_{2}O} \operatorname{RCOOH} + \operatorname{NH}_{3} + \operatorname{HX}$$

The reaction mechanisms are discussed in detail elsewhere (88, 96) and need not be reviewed here. As elsewhere, utmost precautions to exclude water even in smallest amounts from these anhydrous systems would seem essential to ensure accurate conductance data.

B. ACIDIC SOLVENTS

1. Carboxylic acids

Equivalent conductances for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide have been reported in acetic acid (D.C._{25°} = 6.15) at 25°C. by Kolthoff and Willmann (123) and are illustrated in figure 14. Both acids are very weak electrolytes in this solvent, with hydrogen chloride somewhat weaker than hydrogen bromide. A satisfactory determination of Λ_0 and K_i has not been achieved. Smith and Elliot (186) estimated, colorimetrically, K_i values of 5.1×10^{-10} and 1.9×10^{-7} for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide, respectively. Shkodin and Izmailov (184) reported K_i values of 6.3×10^{-9} and 4.0×10^{-7} for hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide from e.m.f. and conductance data.

Formic acid (D.C.₂₅ \circ = 58.5) is a relatively good ionizing medium for hydrogen chloride, as shown by

the conductance measurements of Schlesinger and Martin (178) (figure 14). Discrepancies between these measurements and earlier results of Zanninovich-Tessarin (207) may be attributed to an impure solvent in the latter. Values for Λ_0 and K_i of 80.0 and 0.041, using the Ostwald law, were reported by the former group (178). Because of the relatively high concentration range (8 \times 10⁻³ to 0.3 equiv. liter⁻¹) and the scatter in the results, these values should be regarded as approximations only.

2. Nitro compounds

Although solvents with a nitro group are polar (e.g., nitrobenzene, D.C._{25°} = 34.82, and nitromethane, D.C._{25°} = 35.87) the weakly acidic properties of the nitro group limit their utility as ionizing media for the hydrogen halides. The three acids hydrogen chloride (4, 91, 177), hydrogen bromide (17, 91), and hydrogen iodide (200) are all poor conductors in nitrobenzene, as is apparent from the results at 18°C. illustrated in figure 15. The reproducibility of the measurements was poor, and conductance-time changes were noted in hydrogen iodide and hydrogen bromide solutions. Trace amounts of water increase the conductivity markedly (4) and most probably account for the irreproducibility noted above. Values for Λ_0 and K_i cannot be evaluated from the preceding results.

Hlasko and Michalski (91) reported measurements for hydrogen chloride in nitromethane at 25°C. but



FIG. 14. Hydrogen halides in formic and acetic acids: A, B, in acetic acid (123); C, in formic acid (178).

apart from the fact that the conductivities are very low, e.g., 0.233 ohm⁻¹cm.² at 0.0909 N, the results seem of little significance. Later measurements (86) have confirmed the poor conductance of hydrogen chloride in nitromethane.

C. APROTIC SOLVENTS

Conductance data for the halogen acids in aprotic solvents, i.e., those which do not exhibit acidic or basic properties, are noticeably lacking. Qualitative measurements have shown that hydrogen chloride is virtually



FIG. 15. Hydrogen halides in nitrobenzene (91, 200).

unionized in benzene, xylene, and hexane (105). The slight increase in conductance observed when anhydrous acids are introduced into these solvents can be attributed to the presence of the last trace amounts of basic impurities, always so difficult to remove in the purification procedures. Thus 0.01 per cent water in the solvent is equivalent to approximately 0.005 mole per liter, and this concentration is comparable to solute concentrations in the dilute solution region.

D. MISCELLANEOUS MEASUREMENTS

Conductance measurements have been recorded for organic compound-hydrogen halide systems using the anhydrous hydrogen halide as solvent. Steele, McIntosh, and Archibald in a classic work in 1906 (187) reported the conductivities of a wide variety of organic compounds ranging from alcohols to nitriles in anhydrous hydrogen chloride (-100° C.), hydrogen bromide (-83° C.), and hydrogen iodide (-50° C.). The formation of molecular compounds between the solute (organic molecule) and solvent molecules was proposed to account for the formation of ions and for the anomalous increase in conductivity noted with increasing solute concentration.

Fredenhagen and Cadenbach (53, 54) investigated the conductivities of aliphatic alcohols, carboxylic acids, ethers, and ketones in anhydrous hydrogen fluoride at -15° C. Equivalent conductances ranged from 150 ohm^{-1} cm.² to 200 ohm⁻¹cm.² Rather surprising was the observation that ethanol and 1-propanol had higher conductances than methanol. It appears that the ratedetermining step for proton transfer is not as in alcoholic solutions (i.e., rotation of the ROH[±]₂ ion). Measurements of the conductivities of aromatic hydrocarbons in anhydrous hydrogen fluoride have been reported by Klatt (118) and more recently by Kilpatrick and coworkers (117). The equilibrium constants:

$$K = \frac{[\mathrm{Ar}\mathrm{H}^+] \ [\mathrm{F}^-]}{[\mathrm{Ar}] \ [\mathrm{HF}]}$$

for a number of polymethylbenzenes were calculated from the equivalent conductances in the latter work, assuming that the degree of dissociation was given by $\alpha = \Lambda/\Lambda'$, where Λ' is the limiting conductance for hexamethylbenzene. The results from these conductance measurements and from distribution experiments are in qualitative agreement (135, 138).

VII. LIMITING CONDUCTANCES AND IONIZATION CONSTANTS

Accurate limiting equivalent conductances and ionization constants are essential to an understanding of the relative strength of electrolytes, the degree of ionization, and the interactions in ionic solutions. For solvents in a homologous series, the relative basicities can be gained from a knowledge of the ionization constants. A survey of the various procedures for evaluating Λ_0 and K_i , with special reference to the problem of the hydrogen halides in organic solvents, is of interest.

For incomplete dissociation (assuming $\alpha = \Lambda/\Lambda_0$ and the mass action law) good approximations may be gained from the Ostwald dilution law:

$$K = \frac{\Lambda^2 c}{\Lambda_0 (\Lambda_0 - \Lambda)} \tag{1}$$

A convenient form of this equation is the expression:

$$\frac{1}{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_0} + \frac{c\Lambda}{K(\Lambda_0)^2}$$
(2)

in which form it is readily apparent that a graph of $1/\Lambda$ against the specific conductance κ (since $\kappa = c\Lambda/1000$) gives Λ_0 and K_i directly from the intercept and slope of the straight line. The system hydrogen chloride-dimethylformamide (191) has been interpreted by this method.

Deviations from the Ostwald law behavior are the rule rather than the exception, since the effect of ionic interactions on the mobilities of the ions is assumed negligible and the activity coefficient of each ionic species is taken as unity. The Fuoss-Kraus equation (65), developed from the Onsager limiting equation (84) modified for incomplete dissociation, gives the expression for α as:

$$\alpha = \frac{\Lambda}{\Lambda_0 F(z)} \tag{3}$$

where $z = A\sqrt{\Lambda c} (\Lambda_0)^{-3/2}$, A is a constant, and F is a function of z. Combined with the thermodynamic ionization constant:

$$K_i = \frac{c\alpha^2 f_{\pm}^2}{(1-\alpha)} \tag{4}$$

the dilution law, corrected for long-range interionic effects, becomes:

$$\frac{F(z)}{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_0} + \frac{[c\Lambda f_{\pm}^2/F(z)]}{K_i(\Lambda_0)^2}$$
(5)

where the mean molar ionic activity coefficient, f_{\pm} , is calculated by the Debye-Hückel law. A graph of $F(z)/\Lambda$ against $c\Lambda f_{\pm}^2/F(z)$ is used to obtain the values of Λ_0 and K_i most readily. The values of F(z) have been conveniently tabulated as interpolation tables by Fuoss (60). The conductances of ionophores in many systems and of the hydrogen halides in certain nonaqueous solvents, e.g., hydrogen chloride in ethanol and methanol (161) and hydrogen iodide in pyridine (31), have been treated by this method.

The Shedlovsky equation (182) for weak electrolytes, also derived from the Onsager limiting equation and the thermodynamic ionization constant, has the form:

$$\frac{1}{\Lambda S(z)} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_0} + \frac{[c\Lambda f_{\pm}^2 S(z)]}{K_i (\Lambda_0)^2}$$
(6)

where

$$S(z) = 1 + z + \frac{z^2}{2} + \dots$$

and z is defined as in the Fuoss-Kraus expression. This equation has been found better for estimates of Λ_0 and K_i , particularly in the range of values $10^{-3} \leq K_i \leq 1$. The limiting mobility of hydrogen chloride in methanol (183) was obtained by the Shedlovsky method. Recalculation of the data for hydrogen chloride in ethanol by this method would undoubtedly give improved values. The two extrapolation procedures have been critically discussed by Fuoss and Shedlovsky (69).

Of the nonaqueous solvents listed in the preceding section, the alcohols appear the best ionizing media for hydrogen halides. The limiting equivalent conductances are highest in these solvents. A summary of these results is given in table 4(a).

Limiting conductance data in solvents other than alcohols are scarce and where estimates have been made, the results are frequently of doubtful accuracy, e.g., the values for formic acid and acetic acid are obviously low. The spread in the values for Λ_0 (up to 5 per cent) in methyl and ethyl alcohols for which a number of independent investigations have been reported serves to stress the difficulties encountered in nonaqueous solutions.

Inspection of table IV(b) shows that the proton has an abnormal mobility in alcohol solutions; e.g., $\lambda_{0H^+} =$ 142.0 (methanol); $\lambda_{0H^+} = 53.6$ (ethanol), although not as high as in water. A rough estimate of the excess proton mobilities in alcohols is possible from:

$$\lambda_{0_{\mathrm{H}^+(\mathrm{excess})}} = \Lambda_{0_{\mathrm{HX}}} - \Lambda_{0_{\mathrm{BX}}}$$

where BX is a strong electrolyte and the radii of B^+ and the solvated proton (28, 188) are similar. In table 5 a summary of excess proton conductances in methanol and ethanol thus estimated is given. The excess constitutes about 65 per cent of the total hydrogen-ion conductance in methanol and ethanol and over 80 per cent in water.

Conway, Bockris, and Linton (28) have recently given a comprehensive discussion of abnormal proton mobilities in water and aliphatic alcohols. It was proposed that the rate-determining step in proton conductance in alcoholic media is the rotation of hydrogenbonded alcohol molecules near the alkoxonium ion (ROH_2^+) . The decreasing contributions to the anomalous conductivity with increasing length of the alkyl chain may be understood on the basis of a slow rotation step.

By contrast the proton does not show abnormal mobilities in nonhydroxylic solvents and limiting ionic mobilities are of the same order as those of other cations; e.g., $\Lambda_{0\text{HCl}} = 24.10$ and $\Lambda_{0\text{NH4Cl}} = 28.30$ (33) in formamide at 20°C. Minimization of possibilities of proton transfer by hydrogen-bounded chains undoubtedly accounts for this change in mobility in large part.

The limiting ionic conductances of the halide ions increase in the order $Cl^- < Br^- < I^-$ in the solvents for which data are available. This is not unexpected in view of the greater polarizabilities of the larger anions.

The effect of temperature upon the limiting conductances (cf. table 4(a, b)) has not been widely investigated. The results reported for methanol and ethanol appear to be the only reliable data. In each case the limiting conductance shows a positive temperature dependence. This may be attributed in part to corresponding changes of viscosity; in alcohols the temperature dependence of the rate of the proton-transfer process also undoubtedly contributes.

Correlation of the limiting conductances of the acids in various solvents empirically, i.e., Walden product, has not been too successful, with the exception of the alcohols where a constancy is approached. The latter results are summarized in table 6. The simple modification of the Walden product relating the conductances and the dielectric constants of the solvents $\Lambda_0\eta_0/D$, according to van Rysselberghe (195), does not seem to apply for solutions of the hydrogen halides in organic solvents. The conditions under which the preceding are obeyed, i.e., large symmetrical ions with low surface charge density and minimum solvation effects, are apparently not fulfilled in these solutions. The recent calculations by Fuoss (63a) on the dependence of the Walden product on dielectric constant show that the calculated size of the ionic species depends on the nature of the solvent. The deviation of the Walden product from constancy is understood as due to an increase in viscosity attributed to the electrostatic coupling between the moving ions and the solvent dipoles. Insufficient data are available to evaluate this approach in the hydrogen halide-organic solvent systems.

A summary of the ionization constants is given in

	(a) Limitir	ng Equivalent (Conductances		ll	(a) Limiting	Equivalent C	Conductances	-Continued												
Temperature	нСı	HBr	HI	References	Temperature	HCl	НВ	r	ні	References											
/ <u></u> /_	,,	Methanol		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			N,N-Dimeth	ylformamide													
°C.					° <i>C</i> .																
25	202.5 196.7 198.5 193.2	212.3	221.8	(90) (192) (183) (85, 161)	25	79.3 70 65.3	88.	7		(191, 179) (32) (32, recal- culated)											
	192.3 204.3	206.6	212.2	(172) (76)			Formi	e acid													
15 4	173.0 150.4			(161) (161)	25	80.0				(178)											
		Ethanol					Acetic	e acid													
25	81.7 82.46	1.7 12.46	(161) (41)	25	1.54				(123)												
	83.8 84.25 84.7 90 1 88 0 00 00	03.5	(85) (8) (192) (76)		(b)	Limiting Ion	ic Conductar	lces													
15 4	67.30 53.25	00.9	93.2	90.2	80.2	50.2	7 3,2	30,2	73.2	70,2	50,2	50,2	73,2	00.2	(161) (161)	Tempera- ture	H+	C1-	Br-	I-	References
•		1-Propanol	·	·	Methanol																
25	46.6	47.2		(79)	°C.	141.8	51,27	56.4		(161)											
		Pyridine			4	$142.0 \\ 113.2$	$51.2\\37.12$	41.85		(85) (161)											
25	93*		86.7	(2, 31)			Eth	anol													
',	<u> </u>	Formamide	í,		25	63.3	21.4			(192)											
40 20 3	39.40 24.50 14.41			(33) (33) (33)	4	57.40 59.5 64.5 37.24	24.3 24.5 16.01		28,80 19.30	(161) (85) (76) (161)											

TABLE 4

Limiting equivalent and ionic conductances of hydrogen halides in organic solvents

* Estimated from limiting ionic mobilities.

table 7. The most accurate values are those for hydrogen chloride in methanol and ethanol at 25°C. The disagreement apparent in the values for any one system may originate in part from the computational methods used; e.g., K_i values for hydrogen chloride in methanol are 0.059, using the Shedlovsky extrapolation, and 0.118 using the Fuoss and Kraus equation. Reëvaluation of the ionization constants for hydrogen chloride in methanol in the light of the more recent concepts (62) would be of interest.

The ionization constants indicate that the basicities of the alcohols decrease in the series $C_nH_{2n+1}OH$ as n

TABLE 6

Walden's ru	le in	organic	solvent-h	nydrogen	halide	systems

Excess proton conductance in alcohols

Alcohol Methanol (25°C.)		A _{0HX}	۵ _{0BX}	Excess Proton Conductance $\lambda_{+} = \Lambda_{0_{HX}} - \Lambda_{0_{BX}}$		
		193.2 (HCl)	104.9 (KCl)	88.3		
	(15°C.)	173.0 (HCl)	90.7 (KCl)	82.3		
	(4°C.),	150.4 (HCl)	76.5 (KCl)	73.9		
Ethanol	(25°C.)	81.7 (HCl)	42.5 (NaCl)	39.2		
	(40°C.)	53.3 (HCl)	31.0 (KCl)*	22.3		

* Estimated.

	Tempera-	Δ ₀ η ₀			
Solvent	ture	ture HCl		HI	
	°C.				
Methanol. Ethanol. 1-Propanol. Formic acid. Acetio acid. N.N-Dimethylformamide. Formamida	23 25 25 25 25 20 20	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.081\\ 0.908\\ 0.934\\ 1.573\\ 2.02 \times 10^{-2}\\ 0.698\\ 0.809 \end{array} $	1.125 0.958 0.946	1.155 1.005	

increases. Colorimetric measurements by Kolthoff and Guss (122) are in accord with this generalisation.

It is of interest to note that K_i for hydrogen chloride in methanol has a positive temperature gradient in the range 4-25°C. (161), while K_i in ethanol has a negative temperature gradient. Although it is possible, in principle, to determine the thermodynamic quantities ΔH_i , ΔF , and ΔS knowing the variation of K_i with temperature, the experimental limitations of the conductance techniques limit the use of such measurements for this purpose. Some of the problems in the use of the A.c. conductance technique for thermodynamic data have been discussed by Feates, Ives, and Pryor (50). The mean heats of ionization reported by Ogston (161) for hydrogen chloride, i.e.,

Alcohol	15 - 25°C.	4−15°C.
Methyl alcohol Ethyl alcohol	cal. 1100 +4500	<i>cal.</i>

should be regarded as approximate values, since the values of K_i are not precisely known and the results are based on measurements for a rather limited temperature range.

Attempts to estimate ionization constants for the acids in other nonaqueous solvents have been largely unsuccessful owing to lack of precise data at low concentration; e.g., $<10^{-4}$ equiv. liter⁻¹. Difficulties are encountered in the interpretation of conductance data in terms of the Ostwald law and its modifications: e.g., hydrogen chloride and hydrogen bromide in acetonitrile, aniline, and pyridine. The values of K_i for hydrogen

chloride and hydrogen bromide in solvents other than alcohols are thus qualitative only. Further conductance studies, particularly at low concentrations, are required to meet the need for data in this field.

VIII. EQUIVALENT CONDUCTANCE-CONCENTRATION VARIATION

The phoreograms for halogen acids in nonaqueous solutions are of considerable interest, since "anomalies" are exhibited in the majority of cases. In the "anomalous" systems the equivalent conductance decreases with dilution initially until it reaches a minimum value and then it increases rapidly with further dilution. In some cases the phoreograms show maxima in the more concentrated regions, e.g., aniline hydrohalides in aniline. This behavior is not unique, having been observed in many systems, particularly for ionophores in solvents of low dielectric constant (64).

Early attempts to account for the variation in conductance with dilution, such as those made by Archibald, McIntosh, and Steele (187) and Sachanov (175), were based on the law of mass action and a series of simultaneous equilibria, one of which at least was ionization. Thus it was assumed that a prerequisite of ionization was the initial formation of an electrolyte type of compound or a complex between solvent-solute or solute-solute molecules. The conductivity thus depended upon the manuer in which the degree of ionization of the "electrolyte compound" responded to mass action effects and solute concentration. Sachanov attributed minima in the phoreograms to the series of simultaneous equilibria:

> $AB \rightleftharpoons A^+ + B^ [AB]_m \rightleftharpoons mAB$

Temperature	HCl	Reference	Temperature	HCl	HBr	References		
Methanol			Pyridine					
°C.			• <i>C</i> .					
25	0.059 0.118	(183) (161)	25	7.13 × 10 ⁻⁷		(2)		
15	0.112	(161)		N,N-Dime	thylformamide			
4	0.102	(161)	25 20	2.83 × 10~4 6.55 × 10-4	1.7×10^{-2}	(191, 179) (32)*		
Ethanol			Formic acid					
25	8.23×10^{-3} 0.0112 0.0113	(41) (161) (8)	25	0.041		(178)		
15	0.0147	(161)	Acetic acid					
4	0.0232	(161)	25	5.1×10^{-10}	1.9 × 10-10	(186)		

 TABLE 7

 Ionization constants in organic solvents

* Recalculated.

and

$$[AB]_m \rightleftharpoons [A_m B_{m-1}]^+ + B^-$$

An increase in conductance with dilution follows from the dissociation of AB into simple ions, while a decrease in conductance with dilution results from the third equilibrium, i.e., association of a solute-solute molecular type complex. The minimum occurred in the phoreogram at the point where contributions due to the two effects were equal. These concepts did not gain acceptance, partly because the evaluation of ionization constants did not follow too readily and in large part because with the advent of the Debye-Hückel theory such studies were overshadowed by the striking successes of that theory relative to properties of strong electrolytes.

A quantitative explanation of minima and maxima in phoreograms for ionophores in solvents of low dielectric constant has been developed by Fuoss and Kraus (66). The formation of higher ionic aggregates, i.e., triple ions and ion quadrupoles, is assumed with increasing concentration. An increase in conductance follows with the formation of triple ions by coulombic interaction between the ionic species and ion-pairs, viz:

and

$$[A^+B^-]^0 + B^- \rightleftharpoons [B^-A^+B^-]^-$$

 $[A^+B^-]^0 + A^- \rightleftharpoons [A^+B^-A^+]^+$

In this treatment the dissociation constant, K_3 , of triple ions is evaluated from the theoretical expression:

$$K_{3}^{-1} = \frac{2\pi N a_{3}^{2}}{1000} I(\mathbf{b}_{3}) \tag{7}$$

where N = Avogadro's number, $a_3 =$ the distance of closest approach for triple ions, and $I(b_3)$ is a complex function, the values of which have been tabulated (84) for ready reference. The variation of equivalent conductance for systems where the formation of triple ions occurs is given by the equation:

$$\Lambda = \sqrt{\frac{\overline{K}}{c}} \Lambda_0 + \frac{\sqrt{Kc}}{k} \Lambda_0, \qquad (8)$$

which is the expression for a curve with a minimum. In equation 8 K and k are the equilibrium constants for ion-pairs and triple ions and Λ_0 and Λ_{0_3} have the usual significance. Accordingly, a graph of $\Lambda c^{1/2}$ against c should yield a straight line where interactions such as those above predominate. Ample experimental verification of the triple-ion theory is reported in the literature (66). Further interactions between triple-ion species and simple ions have been discussed to account for additional inflections in conductance curves (67).

In systems where the solute molecules are ionogens, both the ion-pair and triple-ion theories are frequently insufficient to describe the conductance-concentration dependence. This is illustrated by the hydrogen halidenonaqueous solvent systems. Plots of $\Lambda c^{1/2}$ versus c yield curves with increasing positive slopes in most cases, e.g., hydrogen bromide in acetonitrile and hydrogen bromide and hydrogen iodide in pyridine. The limitations undoubtedly may be attributed in part to the fundamental assumption in these ion-aggregate theories that potential energies of the interacting ionic species result from electrostatic coulombic forces only. Kraus (124) has reviewed this problem for a variety of systems where hydrogen bonding and acid-base equilibria are complicating factors.

Modifications of the Fuoss-Kraus conductance expression for weak electrolytes (equation 5) have been proposed by Witschonke and Kraus (206) to account for interactions not governed by coulombic forces. Thus in nonbasic solvents, e.g., nitrobenzene, equilibria of the following types are possible

$$BHA \stackrel{\gamma}{\rightleftharpoons} BH^+ + A^-$$
$$BHA \stackrel{z}{\rightleftharpoons} B + HA$$

for donor-acceptor electrolytes, e.g., anilinium picrate. Equilibrium constants for the ionization and dissociation to free acid and base, respectively, are given by

$$K = \frac{c\gamma^2 f_{\pm}^2}{(1-\gamma-x)} \text{ and } k = \frac{cx^2}{(1-\gamma-x)}$$

respectively; the activity coefficient f_{\pm} is obtained from the Debye-Hückel limiting law. The Fuoss-Kraus equation then has the modified form:

$$\frac{1}{f_{\pm}} \left(\frac{F(z)}{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{\Lambda_0} \right) = \frac{c \Lambda f_{\pm}}{F(z)} \frac{1}{K \Lambda_0^2} + \frac{1}{\Lambda_0} \sqrt{\frac{k}{K}}$$
(9)

where F(z) is the same as before. A graph of

$$\frac{1}{f_{\pm}}\left(\frac{F(z)}{\Lambda_0}-\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right)$$

against $c\Lambda f_{\pm}/F(z)$ yields a straight line from which the true values of Λ_0 , K, and k are readily calculated. The data for several picrates in nitrobenzene were treated with success by this theory (206), and the method can be extended, in principle, to systems of hydrohalide salts in nonbasic solvents, e.g., nitromethane and nitrobenzene.

French and Roe (55) recently proposed modifications of the Fuoss and Kraus ion-aggregate theory for the case of formation of unilateral triple ions, such as, for example, Pi-H+Pi- in picric acid solutions (55, 56). Assuming the simultaneous equilibria for ion-pairs and unilateral triple ions in these solutions:

$$H^+ Pi^- \rightleftharpoons H^+ + Pi^- \qquad K_1$$
$$Pi^- H^+ Pi^- \rightleftharpoons Pi^- + H^+ Pi^- \qquad K_2$$

it follows that the equivalent conductance will be given by:

$$\Lambda[c(K_2 + c)]^{1/2} = \Lambda_0(K_1K_2)^{1/2} + \Lambda_0, \left(\frac{K_1}{K_2}\right)c \qquad (10)$$

where K_1 and K_2 are the dissociation constants for ionpairs and unilateral triple ions, and Λ_0 and Λ_{0_3} have the usual meaning. The constants in equation 10 are evaluated from the slope and intercept of the linear plot of $\Lambda[c(K_2 + c)]^{1/2}$ versus c; K_2 is found by graphical approximation.

Unilateral triple ions of the type $[X^{-}--HX]^{-}$, stabilized by hydrogen bonding between an undissociated acid molecule and the anion, may be expected in concentrated hydrogen halide solutions if solute-solute interactions are favored. Experimentally the existence of bihalide ions, HF_{2}^{-} (30), HCl_{2}^{-} (87, 198), and HBr_{2}^{-} (112), in various media has been confirmed, and in one instance the mobility of the HCl_{2}^{-} ion has been estimated (87). Tests of the concept of the unilateral triple ion with the conductance data for hydrogen halidenonaqueous solvent systems show that, in general, the where *m* is the molarity (see page 221). The constants *A* and *B* are evaluated from the linear plots of $\Lambda m^{1/2}$ versus $m^{1/2}$ (or Λ versus $m^{-1/2}$). A summary of the values for these parameters found for four solvent systems is given in table 8. In each of the systems interactions between the ionogenic solute and the polar solvent may lead to compound formation. Additional data are needed to explore the applicability of this empirical equation more generally. The apparent linear relation between $\Lambda m^{1/2}$ and $m^{1/2}$ is at present without theoretical justification.

X. CHARGE-TRANSFER CONCEPTS

From the preceding discussion and the compilation of conductance data it is apparent that hydrogen halides frequently exhibit a highly individual behavior in nonaqueous solvents. This is attributed not only to the

TABLE 8								
Values of constants A and B in empirical equation A	. =	A	$+ Bm^{-1/2}$	2				

Solvent	Temperature		A	В	Concentration Range	Reference
	°C.					
Acetonitrile	25	HCl HCl HBr HBr	0.69 0.76 10.2 17.7	$ \begin{array}{c} 4 \times 10^{-3} \\ -4 \times 10^{-3} \\ 0.165 \\ -0.63 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{l} 10^{-4} < m < 4 \times 10^{-2} \\ 10^{-2} < m < 0.7 \\ 10^{-4} < m < 1.2 \times 10^{-2} \\ 1.2 \times 10^{-2} < m < 0.1 \end{array}$	(101) (101) (101) (101)
Acetone	25	HCl	2.7	0.255	$2.45 \times 10^{-3} < m < 0.3$	(177)
Pyridine	25	HCl HBr	0.64 2.7	6.5×10^{-2} 0.65	5×10^{-3} to 5.5×10^{-2} m < 5 × 10^{-2}	(2) (174)
Acetio acid	25	HCl	3.6×10^{-8}	9.8 × 10-4	$m < 10^{-2}$	(123)

properties of these solutions cannot be explained in this manner. For example, in the hydrogen bromide-acetonitrile system a straight line is obtained for the graph of $\Lambda[c(K_2 + c)]^{1/2}$ versus c (as predicted by equation 10) for all values of $K_2 \ge 10^{-4}$, obviating an unequivocal determination of K_2 and the constants in this expression.

While the hydrogen halide species are 1:1 electrolytes, it appears that in anhydrous organic solutions the situation may arise not infrequently where there may be at least two processes occurring whereby free ions are produced (cf. the case of $HX-CH_3CN$). Thus consideration of both mass action effects according to the earlier concepts (175, 187) and the ion-aggregate equations based on modern concepts of ionic interactions (above) may be important to an understanding of the conductances of the hydrogen halides in these solutions.

IX. Empirical Conductance Equations

It has been possible to represent the experimental conductance data for solutions of halogen acids in several nonaqueous organic solvents by an empirical equation of the form:

$$\Lambda = A + Bm^{-1/2}$$

chemical properties of the solvent but also to the ionogenic nature of the acids.

The predominantly covalent character of the bonds in hydrogen chloride, hydrogen bromide, and hydrogen iodide is well established by their low conductivities (187) and partial ionic character (per cent ionic character: HF, 60; HCl, 17; HBr, 11; HI, 5) (149). Thus, ionization of the acids seems dependent upon the extent of their interaction with solvent molecules and can be expressed by the ionogenic displacement equilibrium:

$HX + D \rightleftharpoons DH^+ + X_{solv}^-$

i.e., an acid-base type of equilibrium.

The concept of solvent-solute interaction in electrolytic solutions is not new. It was the subject of active controversy between ionists and proponents of solvate theories in the early 1900's. In 1918 Kendall (114), in support of solvent-solute interactions, stated "... there are two phenomena which proceed in parallel for acids and bases of all strengths in aqueous solution; ionization and combination with the solvent." He concluded by proposing the hypothesis that "... ionization is preceded by combination between solvent and solute (acid or base) and is, indeed a consequence of such combinations." Kendall developed this hypothesis extensively in subsequent papers (115, 116) but interpretation of the factors contributing to solute-solvent interaction rested on vague unsaturation valence forces as dictated by the limited knowledge of chemical bonds in that period.

At the present time a satisfactory theoretical account for the electrolytic properties of ionogens is still to be achieved. Modern concepts of electronic structure and bond forces give a better insight on the solute-solvent interactions, and consequently the ionization processes in such systems. Relative to this the charge-transfer (C-T) theory of Mulliken (151, 152) and its applicability to hydrogen halide-organic solvent systems is of interest.

The charge-transfer theory provides a quantummechanical explanation of interactions between electron donors and acceptors (bases and acids in the Lewis sense) and accounts for the existence of n:m addition compounds in these systems in terms of a resonance between no-bond and dative-bond structures, i.e., $D \cdot HX \leftrightarrow DH^+X^-$.

According to charge-transfer concepts the hydrogen halides can be classified as σ dissociative acceptors (152) (given the notation d or $h\sigma_{\rm D}$). The acceptor action results from the electronegative characteristics of the halogen and is usually accompanied by a diminution of the covalent character of the HX σ bond. The extent of dissociative interaction will depend upon the electrondonor ability of the base and to some extent on the approachability of the base.

In considering the neutral molecule bases Mulliken distinguishes two types of donor action: the relatively strong donor action of onium (n) bases resulting from nonbonding lone-pair electrons, e.g., lone-pair electrons on the nitrogen or oxygen of amines or oxy solvents; and the weak donor action of π bases which results from a bonding orbital, e.g., unsaturated hydrocarbons, C=N groups.

On the basis of the charge-transfer theory ionization of hydrogen halides in organic solvents can occur in three steps. The first involves formation of an n:m type addition compound between acid acceptor and donor (D) solvent molecules, i.e.,

$n HX + mD \rightleftharpoons mD \cdot n HX$

The addition compounds are generally of the 1:1 type, although in several instances, e.g., solvents with C=O, C=N, or pyridinic groups, there is the additional possibility of compounds such as $D \cdot nHX$ $(n = 2, 3, \cdots)$ resulting from the presence of both π and n (onium) type donor centers. The dative bond formed between solvent and solute varies from very loose associative hydrogen bonds, as in acetone-hydrogen chloride and acetonitrile-hydrogen chloride systems, to relatively strong covalent bonds as in pyridine hydrochloride (in this case the charge-transfer bond leads to formation of a covalent bond between the nitrogen and the hydrogen of the acid and the scission of the sigma bond; cf. below). The existence of hydrogen-bonded acid-solvent addition compounds in solution has been confirmed in many systems by spectroscopic measurements (100, 103, 104, 166) (cf. Section V).

The second step is the scission of the HX σ bond in the addition compound, with the resultant formation of a salt-like compound, e.g.,

$$D \cdot HX \rightleftharpoons DH^+X^-$$

(Outer complex) (Inner complex)

Transition from an outer to an inner complex generally occurs very rapidly. However, in some systems, e.g., where both the electron donor and the electron acceptor are relatively weak, there may be a finite activation energy for the outer-inner transition and this would lead to a conductance increase with time, e.g., hydrogen chloride in acetonitrile, iodine in pyridine (153). One other point can be noted: the scission of the σ bond depends to a certain extent upon the polarizability of the HX molecule. Since the polarizabilities of the hydrogen halides increase in the order HCl < HBr < HI (114), hydroiodide addition compounds would be expected to possess the most ionic character, as is the case (cf. conductance data).

The final step is the ionization (electrolytic) of the inner complex in solution to yield solvated ions, e.g.:

$$DH^+X^- \rightleftharpoons DH^+ + X_{solv}^-$$

Thus the ionization of hydrogen halides in organic solvents as expressed above involves three processes. These are dependent upon the electron-donor ability of the base, the acceptor properties of the acid, and the dielectric constant of the media. Hence solvent molecules with available donor electrons and low ionization potentials will readily form ionic addition compounds with hydrogen halides. Electrolytic dissociation of these compounds is governed in turn by the dielectric properties of the solvent; e.g., pyridinium bromide is a much better conductor in pyridine (D.C. = 12.01) than in o-toluidine (D.C. = 5.95).

Solute-solvent interactions more complex than the above in these acidic systems, particularly when the solvent has appreciable basic and/or acidic properties, must be anticipated in any complete account of the conductances of the hydrogen halides in anhydrous polar organic solvents. Thus in CH_3CN-HX solutions ionic species such as $CH_3C(X)=NH_2^+$ undoubtedly contribute. These processes, occurring simultaneously, lead to different chemical species which may contribute to the formation of free ions by ultimate ionizations. If the rate-determining step is sufficiently slow, such interactions would be evident as a conductance increase-time effect in the measurements. Systematic

studies on the nature of the species, together with mass action effects, and the modern concepts of ion-aggregate theories seem essential where two or more simultaneous processes are feasible, and would lead to useful information in this field.

The authors acknowledge with thanks some stimulating correspondence with Dr. J. B. Ramsey and discussions with Dr. H. F. Herbrandson. The contribution of Arthur E. Marcinkowsky to the completion of this review is gratefully acknowledged.

This work was made possible in part by support received from the Office of Scientific Research, U.S. Air Force, and Division of Research, U.S. Atomic Energy Commission.

XI. References

- (1) ANDREWS, L. J.: Chem. Revs. 54, 713 (1954).
- (2) ANGERSTEIN, H.: Roczniki Chem. 30, 855 (1956)
- (3) ARCHIBALD, E., AND McINTOSH, D.: J. Chem. Soc. 85, 928 (1904).
- (4) BECKMANN, E., AND LOCKEMANN, G.: Z. physik. Chem. 60, 390 (1907).
- (5) BELLAMY, L. J., HALLAM, H. E., AND WILLIAMS, R. L.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 54, 1120 (1958).
- (6) BENNET, G. M., AND REYNOLDS, F. M.: J. Chem. Soc. 1935, 131.
- (7) BERTOCCI, U.: Z. Elektrochem. 61, 431 (1957).
- (8) BEZMAN, I. I., AND VERHOEK, F. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 1330 (1945).
- (9) BHIDE, B. W., AND WATSON, H. E.: J. Chem. Soc. 1927, 2101.
- (10) BJERRUM, N.: Kgl. Danske Videnskab. Selskabs 7, No. 9 (1926).
- (11) BRIEGLEB, G., AND LAUPPE, W.: Z. physik. Chem. B28, 154 (1935).
- (12) BRIEGLEB, G., AND LAUPPE, W.: Z. physik. Chem. B37, 260 (1937).
- (13) BRODY, O. V., AND FUOSS, R. M.: J. Phys. Chem. 60, 177 (1956).
- (14) BROWN, H. C.: Record Chem. Progr. (Kresge-Hooker Sci. Lib.) 14, 83 (1953).
- (15) BROWN, H. C., AND BRADY, J. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 3573 (1949).
- (16) BROWN, H. C., AND BRADY, J. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 3570 (1952).
- (17) BRUNER, L., AND GALECKI, E.: Z. physik. Chem. 83, 513 (1913).
- (18) BURWELL, R. L.: Chem. Revs. 54, 615 (1954).
- (19) BUSWELL, A. M., RODEBUSH, W. H., AND ROY, F. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 2444, 2528 (1938).
- (20) CALDWELL, K. S.: Chem. News 96, 75 (1907).
- (21) CANNIZZARO, S.: Ann. 88, 130 (1853).
- (22) CARRARA, G.: Gazz. chim. ital. 26, I, 119 (1896).
- (23) CHENON, B., AND SANDORFY, C.: Can. J. Chem. 36, 1181 (1958).
- (24) COETZEE, J. F.: Ph. D. Thesis, University of Minnesota (1956).
- (25) COFFETTI, G.: Gazz. chim. ital. 33, 63 (1903).
- (26) COLONGE, J.: Bull. soc. chim. 49 (4), 441 (1931).
- (27) CONWAY, B. E.: *Electrochemical Data*, 1st edition. Elsevier Publishing Company, New York (1952).
- (28) CONWAY, B. E., BOCKRIS, J. O'M., AND LINTON, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 24, 834 (1956).

- (29) Cook, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 49 (1958).
- (30) COTE, G. S., AND THOMPSON, H. W.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A210, 206 (1951).
- (31) DAVIES, M. M.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 31, 1561 (1935).
- (32) DAWSON, L. R., GOLBEN, M., LEADER, G. R., AND ZIMMERMAN, H. K.: J. Electrochem. Soc. 99, 28 (1952).
- (33) DAWSON, L. R., NEWELL, T. M., AND MCCREARY, W. J.:
 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 6024 (1954).
- (34) DEHN, W. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 34, 292 (1912).
- (35) DENISON, J. T., AND RAMSEY, J. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2615 (1955).
- (36) DOLBY, R. M., AND ROBERTSON, P. W.: J. Chem. Soc. 1930, 1711.
- (37) DOROFEEVA, N. G., AND KUDRA, O. K.: Ukrain. Khim. Zhur. 24, 592 (1958); Chem. Abstracts 53, 9790 (1959).
- (38) DOROFEEVA, N. G., AND KUDRA, O. K.: Ukrain. Khim. Zhur. 24, 706 (1958); Chem. Abstracts 53, 16662 (1959).
- (39) ECKSTEIN, O.: Ber. 39, 2136 (1906).
- (40) EKELY, J. B., AND HOWE, W. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 45, 1917 (1923).
- (41) EL-AGGAN, A. M., BRADLEY, D. C., AND WARDLAW, W.: J. Chem. Soc. **1958**, 2092.
- (42) ELSEY, H. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 42, 2454 (1920).
- (43) Ephraim, F.: Ber. 47, 1841 (1914.)
- (44) Ephraim, F., and Hochuli, E.: Ber. 48, 635 (1915).
- (45) EVERETT, D. H., AND RASMUSSEN, S. E.: J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 2812.
- (46) FAIRBROTHER, F.: J. Chem. Soc. 1932, 43.
- (47) FAIRBROTHER, F.: J. Chem. Soc. 1933, 1541.
- (48) FAIRBROTHER, F.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 30, 862 (1934).
- (49) FALKENHAGEN, H.: Electrolytes. Clarendon Press, Oxford (1934).
- (50) FEATES, F. S., IVES, D. J. G., AND PRYOR, J. H.: J. Electrochem. Soc. 103, 580 (1956).
- (51) FIELD, P. H., AND FRANKLIN, J. L.: Electron Impact Phenomena. Academic Press, Inc., New York (1957).
- (52) FIESER, L. F., AND FIESER, M.: Organic Chemistry, 1st edition. D. C. Heath and Company, Boston, Massachusetts (1944).
- (53) FREDENHAGEN, H., AND CADENBACH, G.: Z. physik. Chem. A146, 245 (1930).
- (54) FREDENHAGEN, H., AND CADENBACH, G.: Z. angew. u. allgem. Chem. 46, 113 (1933).
- (55) FRENCH, C. M., AND ROE, I. G.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 49, 314 (1953).
- (56) FRENCH, C. M., AND ROE, I. G.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 49, 791 (1953).
- (57) FREUND, M., AND SCHONFELD, F.: Ber. 24, 3354 (1891).
- (58) FREYMANN, R., AND GUÉRON, J.: Compt. rend. 205, 859 (1937).
- (59) FRITZSCHE, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [1] 28, 202 (1851).
- (60) Fuoss, R. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 488 (1935).
- (61) Fuoss, R. M.: J. Chem. Educ. 32, 527 (1955).
- (62) Fuoss, R. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 3301 (1957).
- (63a) Fuoss, R. M.: Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S. 45, 807 (1959).
- (63b) Fuoss, R. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 2659 (1959).
- (64) FUOSS, R. M., AND KRAUS, C. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 21 (1933).
- (65) FUOSS, R. M., AND KRAUS, C. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 476 (1933).
- (66) FUOSS, R. M., AND KRAUS, C. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 2387 (1933).
- (67) FUOSS, R. M., AND KRAUS, C. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 1 (1935).
- (68) FUOSS, R. M., AND ONSAGER, L.: J. Chem. Phys. 61, 668 (1957).

- (69) FUOSS, R. M., AND SHEDLOVSKY, T.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 1496 (1949).
- (70) GANTMACHER, A. R., VOL'KENSHTEIN, M. V., AND SYRKIN, YA. K.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 12, 786 (1940).
- (71) GANTMACHER, A. R., VOL'KENSHTEIN, M. V., AND SYRKIN, YA. K.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 14, 157 (1941).
- (72) GERRARD, W., AND MACKLEN, E.: J. Appl. Chem. (London) 6, 241 (1956).
- (73) GERRARD, W., MADDEN, R. W., AND TOLCHER, P.: J. Appl. Chem. (London) 5, 28 (1955).
- (74) GLADISHEV, A. T., AND SYRKIN, YA. K.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 20 145 (1938).
- (75) GOLDSCHMIDT, H.: Z. physik. Chem. 124, 23 (1926).
- (76) GOLDSCHMIDT, H., AND DAHLL, P.: Z. physik. Chem. 114, 1 (1925).
- (77) GOLDSCHMIDT, H., AND MATHIESEN, E.: Z. physik. Chem. A121, 153 (1926).
- (78) GOLDSCHMIDT, H., AND OVERWIEN, E.: Z. physik. Chem. A143, 367 (1929).
- (79) GOLDSCHMIDT, H., AND THOMAS, L.: Z. physik. Chem. 126, 24 (1927).
- (80) GORDY, W., AND MARTIN, P. C.: J. Chem. Phys. 7, 99 (1939).
- (81) GRUNWALD, E., AND WINSTEIN, S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 69, 2051 (1947).
- (82) HALL, H. K.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 5441, 5444 (1957).
- (83) Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 36th edition. Chemical Rubber Publishing Company, Cleveland, Ohio (1955).
- (84) HARNED, H. S., AND OWEN, B. B.: The Physical Chemistry of Electrolytic Solutions, 2nd edition. Reinhold Publishing Corporation, New York (1950).
- (85) HARTLEY, H. J. G., AND MURRAY-RUST, D. M.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A126, 84 (1929).
- (86) HARTLEY, H. J. G., MURRAY-RUST, D. M., AND WRIGHT, C. P.: J. Chem. Soc. 1931, 199.
- (87) HERBRANDSON, H. F., AND ZUTTY, N. L.: In publication.
- (88) HINE, J.: Physical Organic Chemistry. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1956).
- (89) HINSHELWOOD, C. N.: J. Chem. Soc. 1935, 599.
- (90) HLASKO, M., AND KAMIENSKI, E.: Roczniki Chem. 7, 6 (1927).
- (91) HLASKO, M., AND MICHALSKI, E.: Roczniki Chem. 6, 534 (1926).
- (92) HLASKO, M., AND MICHALSKI, E.: Roczniki Chem. 12, 35 (1932).
- (93) HODGSON, H. H., AND MARSDEN, E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 1592 (1931).
- (94) HODGSON, H. H., AND MARSDEN, E.: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 59, 23 (1940).
- (95) HOFFMANN, A. W.: Ann. 74, 117 (1850).
- (96) INGOLD, C. K.: Structure and Mechanism in Organic Chemistry, 1st edition. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York (1953).
- (97) JANDER, G., AND WINKLER, G.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 9, 24 (1959).
- (98) JANDER, G., AND WINKLER, G.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem.
 9, 32, 39 (1959).
- (99) JANZ, G. J., AND DANYLUK, S. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 3846 (1959).
- (100) JANZ, G. J., AND DANYLUK, S. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 3850 (1959).
- (101) JANZ, G. J., AND DANYLUK, S. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 3854 (1959).
- (102) JANZ, G. J., AND DANYLUK, S. S.: Unpublished measurements.
- (103) JOSIEN, M. L., AND SOURISSEAU, G.: Compt. rend. 238, 2525 (1954).

- (104) JOSIEN, M. L., AND SOURISSEAU, G.: Bull. soc. chim. France 1955, 178.
- (105) KABLUKOFF, I.: Z. physik. Chem. 4, 429 (1889).
- (106) KAHLENBERG, L., AND LINCOLN, A. T.: J. Phys. Chem. 3, 12 (1899).
- (107) KAHLENBERG, L., AND SCHLUNDT, H.: J. Phys. Chem. 6, 447 (1903).
- (108) KAHOVEC, L., AND KNOLLMÜLLER, K.: Z. physik. Chem. B51, 49 (1942).
- (109) KANE, R.: Ph. D. Thesis, Oxford University (1929); cf. Ann. Repts. on Progr. Chem. (Chem. Soc. London) 27, 344 (1930).
- (110) KARRER, P.: Organic Chemistry, 4th edition. Elsevier Publishing Company, Inc., New York (1950).
- (111) KARVÉ, D. D.: Quart. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1, 247 (1925).
- (112) KAUFLER, F., AND KUNZ, E.: Ber. 42, 385 (1909).
- (113) KAUFLER, F., AND KUNZ, E.: Ber. 42, 2486 (1909).
- (114) KENDALL, J., AND BOOGE, J. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 39, 2323 (1917).
- (115) KENDALL, J., AND GROSS, P. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 43, 1416 (1921).
- (116) KENDALL, J., AND GROSS, P. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 43, 1426 (1921).
- (117) KILPATRICK, M., AND LUBORSKY, F. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 577 (1953).
- (118) KLATT, W.: Z. anorg. u. allgem. Chem. 222, 225 (1935).
- (119) KOBEKO, P. P., KUVSHINSKII, E. V., AND SHISKIN, N. I.: J. Tech. Phys. (U.S.S.R.) 8, 715 (1938); Chem. Abstracts 32, 7794 (1938).
- (120) KOBEKO, P. P., KUVSHINSKII, E. V., VACHAEV, I. P., GORODETSKAYA, F. A., AND ZHITNIKOV, S. S.: J. Phys. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 9, 376 (1937); Chem. Abstracts 31, 8288 (1931).
- (121) KOHN, G.: Ber. 65B, 589 (1932).
- (122) KOLTHOFF, I. M., AND GUSS, L. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 1496 (1940).
- (123) KOLTHOFF, I. M., AND WILLMANN, A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 56, 1007, 1014 (1934).
- (124) KRAUS, C. A.: J. Phys. Chem. 60, 129 (1956).
- (125) KRIEBLE, V. K., AND NOLL, C. I.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 560 (1939).
- (126) LANDOLT-BÖRNSTEIN: Physikalisch-Chemische Tabellen, Dritter Ergänzungsband, pp. 705-8. Julius Springer, Berlin (1935).
- (127) LONDOLF, M.: Bull. soc. chim. 40, 302 (1883).
- (128) MAASS, O., AND DANYLUK, S. S.: Unpublished results (1959).
- (129) MAASS, O., AND MCINTOSH, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 34, 1273 (1912).
- (130) MAASS, O., AND MCINTOSH, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 35, 535 (1913).
- (131) MAASS, O., AND MCINTOSH, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 35, 539 (1913).
- (132) MAASS, O., MILLER, G. C., AND DANYLUK, S. S.: Unpublished results (1959).
- (133) MAASS, O., AND MORRISON, D. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 45, 1675 (1923).
- (134) MAASS, O., AND MORRISON, D. M.: Trans. Roy. Soc. Can. III, 17, 47 (1923).
- (135) MACKOR, E. L., HOFSTRA, A., AND VAN DER WAALS, J. H.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 54, 66, 186 (1958).
- (136) MANDAL, H.: Ber. 53, 2217 (1920).
- (137) MARAIS, H.: Compt. rend. 148, 45 (1909).
- (138) MCCAULEY, D. A., AND LIEN, A. P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 2013 (1951).
- (139) McGlynn, S. P.: Chem. Revs. 58, 1113 (1958).
- (140) McINTOSH, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 27, 28 (1905).

- (141) McINTOSH, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 28, 589 (1906).
- (142) McINTOSH, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 33, 72 (1911).
- (143) McINTOSH, D.: Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 3, 82 (1928).
- (144) McLEAN, J. D., RABINOVITCH, B. S., AND WINKLER, C. A.: Can. J. Research 20B, (8), 168 (1942).
- (145) MESSINGER, J., AND ENGELS, C.: Ber. 21, 327 (1888).
- (146) MEYER, R., AND TANZEN, A.: Ber. 46, 3196 (1913).
- (147) MIGRDICHIAN, V.: The Chemistry of Organic Cyanogen Compounds, 1st edition, A.C.S. Monograph Series No. 105. Reinhold Publishing Corporation, New York (1947).
- (148) MIZUSHIMA, S., SUENAGA, K., AND KOZIMA, K.: Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan **10**, 167 (1935).
- (149) MOELLER, T.: Inorganic Chemistry. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1952).
- (150) MOUNAJED, T.: Compt. rend. 197, 44 (1933).
- (151) MULLIKEN, R. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 811 (1952).
- (152) MULLIKEN, R. S.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 801 (1952).
- (153) MULLIKEN, R. S., AND REID, C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 3869 (1954).
- (154) MURRAY, F. E., AND SCHNEIDER, W. G.: Can. J. Chem. 33, 797 (1955).
- (155) NACHOD, F. C., AND BRAUDE, E. A.: Determination of Organic Structures by Physical Methods, 1st edition. Academic Press, Inc., New York (1955).
- (156) NICHOL, J. C., AND FUOSS, R. M.: J. Phys. Chem. 58, 696 (1954).
- (157) O'BRIEN, S. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 2709 (1941).
- (158) O'BRIEN, S. J., AND BOBALEK, E. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 3227 (1940).
- (159) O'BRIEN, S. J., AND BYRNE, J. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 2063 (1940).
- (160) O'BRIEN, S. J., KENNY, C. L., AND ZUERCHER, R. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 2504 (1939).
- (161) OGSTON, A. G.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 32, 1679 (1936).
- (162) PEARCE, J. N.: J. Phys. Chem. 19, 14 (1915).
- (163) PERCIVAL, E. G., AND WARDLAW, W.: J. Chem. Soc. 1929, 1510.
- (164) PFEIFFER, P.: Organische Molekülverbindungen, 2nd edition. Ferdinand Enke, Stuttgart, Germany (1927).
- (165) PLESKOV, V. A.: J. Phys. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 22, 351 (1948).
- (166) PLYLER, E. K., AND WILLIAMS, D. R.: Phys. Rev. 49, 215 (1936).
- (167) POUND, J. R.: J. Phys. Chem. 31, 547 (1927).
- (168) RABINOVITCH, B. S., AND WINKLER, C. A.: Can. J. Research 20B, 221 (1942).
- (169) RABINOVITCH, B. S., WINKLER, C. A., AND STEWART,
 A. R. P.: Can. J. Research 20B, (7), 121 (1942).
- (170) RASCHIG, F.: Ber. 18, 2249 (1885).
- (171) Röhler, H.: Z. Elektrochem. 16, 431 (1910).
- (172) ROSENBERG, H.: Ph. D. Thesis, University of London (1950); quoted by Conway (27).
- (173) RUGGLI, P., AND BOLLIGER, A.: Helv. Chim. Acta 4, 626 (1921).
- (174) SACHANOV, A.: Dissertation, Moskau, p. 115 (1913); see also Walden (200).
- (175) SACHANOV, A.: Z. physik. Chem. 83, 129 (1913).

- (176) SACHANOV, A., AND PRSCHEBOROWSKY, J.: Z. Elektrochem. 20, 40 (1914).
- (177) SACKUR, O.: Ber. 35, 1248 (1902).
- (178) Schlesinger, H. I., and Martin, A. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 36, 1589 (1914).
- (179) SEARS, P. G., WOLFORD, R. K., AND DAWSON, L. R.: J. Electrochem. Soc. 103, 633 (1956).
- (180) SEIDELL, A. S., AND LINKE, W. F.: Solubilities of Inorganic and Metal Organic Compounds, 4th edition. D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., Princeton, New Jersey (1958).
- (181) SHEDLOVSKY, T.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 54, 1411 (1932).
- (182) SHEDLOVSKY, T.: J. Franklin Inst. 225, 739 (1938).
- (183) SHEDLOVSKY, T., AND KAY, R. L.: J. Phys. Chem. 60, 151 (1956).
- (184) SHKODIN, A. M., AND IZMAILOV, N. A.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 20, 39 (1950).
- (185) SMITH, H. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 1137 (1940).
- (186) SMITH, T. L., AND ELLIOT, J. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 3566 (1953).
- (187) STEELE, B. D., McINTOSH, D., AND ARCHIBALD, E. H.: Trans. Roy. Soc. (London) A205, 99 (1906).
- (188) STRAUSS, W.: Australian J. Chem. 10, 277 (1957).
- (189) STROHMEIER, W., AND ECHTE, A.: Z. Elektrochem. 61, 549 (1957).
- (190) SZOBEL, L.: Compt. rend. 218, 347 (1944).
- (191) THOMAS, A. B., AND ROCHOW, E. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. **79**, 1843 (1957).
- (192) THOMAS, L., AND MARUM, E.: Z. physik. Chem. 143, 177 (1929).
- (193) TROTMAN-DICKENSON, A. F.: J. Chem. Soc. 1949, 1293.
- (194) USANOVICH, M., AND DULOVA, V.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S. R.) 16, 1978 (1946).
- (195) VAN RYSSELBERGHE, P., AND FRISTROM, R. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 680 (1945).
- (196) VLCEK, A. A.: Chem. Listy 48, 1741 (1954).
- (197) VOL'KENSHTEIN, M. V., AND SYRKIN, YA. K.: Nature 139, 288 (1937).
- (198) WADDINGTON, T. C.: J. Chem. Soc. 1958, 1708.
- (199) WAGNER, G.: Z. Kryst. Mineral. 43, 153 (1892).
- (200) WALDEN, P.: Das Leitvermögen der Lösungen, Band IV, Teil I, II. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig (1924).
- (201) WALVEKAR, S. P., PHALNIKAR, N. L., AND BHIDE, B. V.: J. Univ. Bombay 11A, 69 (1943).
- (202) WEGSHEIDER, R.: Sitzber. Akad. Wiss. Wien Abt. IIb, 108, 5 (1899).
- (203) WEINLAND, R. F., AND LEWKOWITZ, H.: Z. anorg. u. allgem. Chem. 45, 39 (1905).
- (204) WEISSBERGER, A., AND PROSKAUER, E.: Techniques of Organic Chemistry, VII. Organic Solvents, 2nd edition. Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York (1955).
- (205) WEST, W., AND ARTHUR, P.: J. Chem. Phys. 2, 215 (1934).
- (206) WITSCHONKE, C., AND KRAUS, C. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 69, 2472 (1947).
- (207) ZANNINOVICH-TESSARIN, H.: Z. physik. Chem. 19, 251 (1896).
- (208) ZEISEL, S.: Monatsh. Chem. 6, 989 (1885).